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To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”),
| am pleased to present to you the annual results of China Rare
Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, the global economy gradually demonstrated signs of
recovery after experiencing fluctuations for a period of time, but
the process remained fraught with challenges and uncertainties.
Although there have been no large-scale conflicts in the
international geopolitical situation, local tensions still fluctuated
from time to time, resulting in challenges to the stability of global
industrial chain and supply chain. The rare earth industry also faced
multiple challenges. The adjustment of the global rare earth supply
pattern has intensified market competition and exacerbated price
fluctuations. At the same time, environmental protection policies
became stricter, which imposed higher requirements on rare earth
mining and processing enterprises, leading certain enterprises to
face adjustments due to difficulties in achieving environmental
standards, thereby affecting the overall supply stability of the
industry. In addition, international trade conflicts and geopolitical
factors also disrupted the circulation of rare earth materials in the
international market to a certain extent.

In the face of the challenging market prospect, the Group
continued to optimize its operating structure and insisted on the
provision of high quality products in an effort to enhance its overall
performance. With the government actively safeguarding the
healthy development of the rare earth industry and continued
breakthroughs in the application of rare earth materials, it is
expected that the performance of the rare earth industry will
gradually rebound.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2024, consumer confidence and demand had not yet recovered
due to the turbulent international situation and persistent inflation
in major developed economies, which also brought operational
challenges to the rare earth industry. However, the government has
actively introduced rare earth-related policies to address the supply
demand imbalance and expand market competitiveness. The
“trade-in" policy is expected to drive both stock and incremental
demands, and the supply and demand of rare earths is expected to
shift from a surplus to a tight balance. Faced with challenges in the
industry, the Group insists on improving and optimizing its business
strategies, improving production efficiency and technology, and
continuously enhancing the quality of its products to align with the
new economic development situation, and has proactively prepared
itself to seize market opportunities when the industry recovers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$756,657,000, an increase of approximately
10% compared to approximately HK$686,073,000 for the same
period in 2023. Revenue from the rare earth segment increased by
approximately 37% from about HK$469,423,000 for the same
period last year to approximately HK$645,370,000, contributing to
approximately 85% of the Group's total revenue. Revenue from the
refractory segment decreased by approximately 49% from about
HK$216,650,000 for the same period last year to approximately
HK$111,287,000, accounting for approximately 15% of the Group's
total revenue. During the period under review, the Group's overall
gross loss margin was approximately 7%/gross loss was
approximately HK$52,989,000. Net loss for the period narrowed to
approximately HK$107,146,000. Loss per share was approximately
HK4.48 cents (2023: loss per share of HK8.56 cents).
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Rare Earth Business

Rare earths are strategic resources that China focuses on control
and development. This year, the government issued the Regulations
on Rare Earth Administration, attaching great importance to the
protection of rare earth resources and industrial development. The
gradual implementation of supporting measures for “equipment
renewal” and “trade-in” on the demand side, as well as the
renewal of industrial equipment and automotive motors, are
expected to drive demand for rare earth magnetic materials. In the
medium to long term, it is conducive to the further reshaping of
the supply side of rare earths, while ensuring the safety and
stability of the industrial chain and supply chain of rare earth
strategic resources, which continuously consolidate China’s core
competitiveness in the rare earth industry. Driven by new energy
vehicles, energy-saving motors, and smart robots, downstream
demand for rare earths is extensive and the overall supply is
relatively rigid. Supply and demand will return to equilibrium, and
prosperity of the industry is expected to improve.

During the period, the sales generated from the rare earth segment
recorded approximately HK$645,370,000, an increase of 37%
compared to the same period last year. The segment suffered a loss
of approximately HK$26,972,000, a decrease of 83% compared
with the corresponding period last year. The sales volume of rare
earth products decreased by 9% to approximately 430 tonnes
compared to 2023. The average selling price decreased compared
to the same period last year. The main rare earth sales products,
such as dysprosium oxide, terbium oxide, and praseodymium-
neodymium oxide, together account for 76% of the overall sales of
the rare earth segment. The selling prices of dysprosium oxide and
terbium oxide fluctuated with market conditions, decreased by 21%
and 39%, respectively.

During the period, the overall rare earth prices in the Chinese
market was in a downward trend. Due to the supply-demand
imbalance in the market and the sluggish real estate industry had
affected demand, and prices remained low in the short term.
During the period, the Group's rare earth business operation model
continued to be mainly based on trading and processing. Due to
various factors, the rare earth industry remained challenging in
2024, and the gross loss margin of the rare earth segment was
approximately 5% during the period.

In terms of geographical market distribution, China’s domestic sales
market accounts for approximately 99% of the total revenue of rare
earth products, and Japan’s and other overseas markets account
for the remaining approximately 1%.
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Refractory Materials Business

In 2024, the Group sold approximately 15,760 tonnes of refractory
materials products, representing a year-on-year decrease of 28%.
The average prices of major products recorded varying degrees of
decline, with the price of casting materials decreased by
approximately 9% compared to the same period last year; the price
of fused magnesia-chrome bricks decreased by approximately 4%;
and the price of aluminium carbon bricks decreased by
approximately 12%. During the period, the sales generated from
the refractory materials segment was approximately
HK$111,287,000, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 49%. Segment loss was approximately
HK$43,455,000.

As economic recovery takes time, the refractory materials industry
will inevitably be affected by the policies of controlling real estate
investment and regulating overcapacity in the steel industry. The
Group's major customers are steel producers. However, the demand
for steel did not meet market expectations, prices had yet to
rebound, and sales performance was weak, which continued to
narrow the margins of steel producing enterprises, and the industry
as a whole suffered losses as a result of the impact of the
continuous narrowing of the market on both the supply and sales
sides. Due to the decrease in demand for refractory materials in the
end market, the prices of refractory raw material products dropped.
In addition, the prolonged “price wars” caused by the fierce
competition in the industry affected the sales prices. Plant and
equipment maintenance and rising electricity prices further drove
up the costs of sales, resulting in a gross loss margin of
approximately 39% during the period.

In terms of geographical market distribution, the domestic market
in China decreased to approximately 99% of the Group's revenue
from refractory products. The Japanese market accounted for
approximately 0.9% while other overseas markets, including the
Korean market, accounted for the remaining approximately 0.1%.
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LOOKING AHEAD

Looking ahead to 2025, the global landscape continues to
fluctuate, affecting the recovery and development of various
industries. Excess inventories and overcapacity also affect the rare
earth industry. However, the government is also actively introducing
relevant management regulations to focus on addressing the
supply-demand imbalance in the rare earth industry. It is expected
that the industry will grow stably in the long run, and operating
results are expected to reach a turning point. The Regulations on
Rare Earth Administration states that it is necessary to quickly
address the inherent imbalance between the insufficient supply of
high-end and the excess supply of low-end rare earth functional
materials, improve product quality and nurture brand building by
proactively increasing the efforts of supply-side structural reform.
On the other hand, it is necessary to strengthen demand-led,
oriented to the independent control of new generation strategic
emerging industries with advanced technologies and significant
driving effects such as information technology, artificial
intelligence, new energy and new materials, expand product
varieties and niche markets, and continuously enhance the
resilience and safety level of the industrial and supply chains.

Rare earth is an important component of non-ferrous metals, an
important strategic resource of China, and a key raw material for
promoting the transformation and upgrading of traditional
industries, supporting the development of high-tech industries as
well as national defense science and technology industries, and is
crucial for safeguarding China’s economic security, national defense
security, and accelerating the development of new quality
productive forces. It plays a pivotal role in high-end manufacturing
and emerging industries such as new energy vehicles, aerospace,
green home appliances, smart robots, and low-altitude economy.
Rare earth plays an extremely important supporting role in modern
high-tech industries. Under the background of “Carbon Peak and
Carbon Neutrality”, the demand for rare earth will increase, and
the strategic position of rare earth will be further enhanced.

In line with the restructuring situation and market changes in
China’s rare earth industry in recent years, the Group has actively
sought partners and continued to communicate with each other to
implement substantive cooperation as soon as possible. Meanwhile,
the Group will continue to pay attention to the mineral source
situation, using this upstream extension strategy to stabilize mineral
sources supply, better control raw material resources, and
strengthen its competitive strengths.
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The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection
and safety construction, and maintains rigorous control at all time.
The production equipment is regularly inspected to ensure that
necessary renovations or repairs can be carried out promptly,
thereby promoting green and sustainable development. The
Group's production facilities are located on the banks of Taihu Lake
in Yixing City. The Group is grateful for the Yixing Government's
support over the years, which has enabled the Group to develop
and grow in a favourable environment.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to deepen its business
development, solidly enhance product quality and technology
upgrading, fully implement corresponding national strategies and
policies, establish long-term and stable cooperative relationships
with its customers, and actively seek emerging high-quality
customers to continuously promote innovative business
development and constantly enhance market competitiveness.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group continues to be prudent in its financial arrangements to
ensure that it has adequate liquidity for future investments and
expansions. As at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and
bank deposits totaling approximately HK$965,953,000, which had
decreased by HK$333,496,000 as compared to approximately
HK$1,299,449,000 at the end of 2023, but still maintained
adequate liquidity for future development needs.

As at 31 December 2024, the net current assets were approximately
HK$1,730,138,000, representing a decrease as compared to
HK$1,823,383,000 at the end of last year. The total liabilities to
total assets ratio remained at approximately 5%.

During the period the Group did not borrow any funds from banks
or financial institutions. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
maintained a financing facility of RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$161,987,000) with a domestic bank by pledging
certain leasehold lands and buildings with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$34,188,000 (2023: HK$36,444,000). The facility
has not been utilized yet. Apart from that, the Group had no
charge on other assets nor holding of any financial derivative
products. The Group was also not exposed to any material interest
rate risk. As for foreign exchange exposure, most of the Group’s
assets, liabilities, and transactions are denominated in Renminbi,
while the rest are denominated in US dollars or Hong Kong dollars.
During the period under review, Renminbi depreciated slightly due
to a strong US dollar, but this did not cause any significant
fluctuations to or impact on the Group's financial results.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital
and reserves. For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
change to the authorized share capital of the Company which is
HK$400,000,000 dividable into 4,000,000,000 shares with a par
value of HK$0.1 each.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued a total of
2,341,700,281 shares, each with a par value of HK$0.1, all of which
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The Group continued to streamline its manpower structure in line
with business needs. As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed
a total of approximately 220 employees at different levels. During
the period under review, the staff costs including directors’
emoluments amounted to approximately HK$19,318,000, which
decreased compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to
the recognition of equity-settled share-based payment expenses of
approximately HK$3,474,000 in the same period of 2023, while
there were no such expenses during the period. The Group
continued to provide on-the-job training and study opportunities to
employees to assist them in maintaining professional competence.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain leasehold lands and buildings
with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$34,188,000
(2023: HK$36,444,000) and zero (2023: zero) respectively were
pledged as collateral for bank facilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital commitments
in respect of the acquisition and construction of property, plant
and equipment contracted but not provided for (2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investments, material
acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures and affiliated companies during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor were there any future plans for material
investments or additions of capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company'’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares, if any)
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

CONCLUSION

Looking ahead, the Group will follow the path of national policy
development, actively seize upstream development opportunities,
strengthen the development of market segments, and always be
prepared to provide high-quality products.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the members
of the Board of Directors, the management team, and all employees
for their contributions, and to our shareholders and business
partners for their trust and support.

Jiang Quanlong
Joint Acting Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 72, is a founding
member and was previously the chairman of the Group until
September 2017. He was appointed as acting chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) on 17 May 2024. Mr. Jiang currently serves
as an executive Director and one of the joint acting Chairmen. Mr.
Jiang is responsible for (i) the formulation of the Group’s overall
business development policies, and (ii) internal and external
coordination and development of business relationship of the
Group. Mr. Jiang is recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu
Provincial Personnel Department. Mr. Jiang has been appointed as
the honorary chairman of the council of Jiangsu Rare Earth Industry
Association since January 2021. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of
experience in the rare earth and refractory materials industries.
Prior to the founding of the Group, Mr. Jiang had been a factory
manager of a refractory materials production plant and a sales
manager of a glass and ceramics manufacturing company. Mr. Jiang
is also a director of YY Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Mr. Jiang is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying,
the former executive Director, and the father of Mr. Jiang Xin, the
general manager of the Group. From 16 August 2006 to 15
September 2017, Mr. Jiang served as the chairman and an executive
director of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited, the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 0556).

Mr. Jiang Dawei, aged 41, joined the Group in 2006 and has been
appointed as the chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) of the Group and an executive Director since 2017. Mr.
Jiang Dawei is responsible for the overall management of the Group
and the marketing aspect of the Group’s business. Previously, He
was the head of the sales department of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing
Rare Earth Company Limited. Mr. Jiang Dawei obtained a Bachelor
degree of Business Administration from Yangzhou University.
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Ms. Guo Jinying (“Ms. Guo"”), aged 35, was appointed as an
executive Director and the joint acting Chairman on 13 January
2025. Ms. Guo is responsible for financial strategic planning and
execution within the Group. She obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accounting from East China University of Science and Technology
(FEFHRE T KZ). Ms. Guo has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management, particularly in the rare earth industry,
demonstrating strong industry knowledge and practical skills that
effectively support corporate financial operations and management
needs. Ms. Guo has been served as the chief financial officer of a
new materials company, overseeing financial strategic planning and
execution, leading budget preparation and cost control to ensure a
stable and efficient financial system. Ms. Guo has been deeply
involved in financial management and investment in the rare earth
industry, establishing internal control systems and enhancing
financial transparency and compliance, while leading several
strategic investment and financing projects to support the
company’s growth in the rare earth sector.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Huang Liu (“Ms. Huang"), aged 39, was appointed as an non-
executive Director on 18 December 2024. Ms. Huang is responsible
and assist for the Group’s business development planning and risk
control. Ms. Huang is experienced in strategic planning, risk control
and financial management. Between 2013 and 2024, Ms. Huang was
the financial specialist and chief financial officer of Hunan Youyang
Decoration Group ( J# B A& # % # % B ). Ms. Huang holds a
Bachelor’s degree in financial management from Changsha University
(RDERK).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Chunhua (“Mr. Huang”), aged 61, joined the Group
in 2001 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Huang
obtained a Ph. D degree in Marketing and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde and a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Wuhan University. Mr. Huang is
the founder and chairman of Pasaca Capital Inc. and also founder
of Innova Medical Group Inc., the global leader of COVID-19 rapid
test kits and testing solutions. Mr. Huang was the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (stock
code: 1188), the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, for the periods from November 2002 to
October 2007 and from June 2010 to December 2020. Mr. Huang
was a director and China equity market strategist of BNP Paribas
Securities (Asia) Limited for the period from May 2007 to April
2009. Prior to this, Mr. Huang was an analyst of various securities
companies. Mr. Huang has extensive knowledge and experience in
financial market.

Mr. Man Kong Yui (“Mr. Man"), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 January 2025. Mr. Man
obtained a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has over 42 years of
experience in the investment and financial industry, with extensive
expertise in gold, foreign exchange, securities, futures, and asset
management. He has held various senior positions in several
prominent banks, international financial institutions, and listed
companies in Hong Kong. Additionally, he has served as a lecturer
at numerous China and Hong Kong universities and professional
training institutions.

He is currently a director of Element Investment Consultant Limited
and an independent non-executive director of TradeGo FinTech
Limited (stock code: 8017), the shares of which are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. He has been an independent non-executive
director of each of Get Nice Holdings Limited (stock code: 64),
Walnut Capital Limited (stock code: 905) and Huanxi Media Group
Limited (formerly known as 21 Holdings Limited) (stock code:
1003), the shares of all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, and GreaterChina Technology Group Limited,
(now known as Viva Goods Company Limited), a company formerly
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (former stock code: 8032) and
now transferred to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 933).
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Mr. Kang Shuaijie (“Mr. Kang”), aged 27, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 January 2025. Mr. Kang
holds a Master Degree in Human Resource Management from the
University of Leeds. Mr. Kang has extensive experience in human
resources, specializing in employee relations management, talent
training management, event organization, and corporate branding
in enterprises related to the chemical and raw materials industries.
He has held various roles and responsibilities in human resources
management, demonstrating a broad and in-depth practical
experience in the field.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 40, joined the Group in 2008 and has been
appointed as the general manager of the Group since 2012. Mr.
Jiang Xin is responsible for the marketing aspect of the Group's
business. Mr. Jiang Xin obtained a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring
in International Business, Finance and Economics from University of
Manchester and a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in Business
Studies from University of Wales. From December 2016 to
November 2023, Mr. Jiang Xin also served as the chief executive
officer, chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia
Environmental Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
0556). Mr. Jiang Xin is a son of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, an executive
Director and Ms. Qian Yuanying, the former executive Director.

Mr. Jiang Hongjun, aged 66, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Jiang
Hongjun is the deputy general manager of the Group and is
responsible for the daily administrative affairs of the Group. Mr.
Jiang Hongjun has over 30 years of experience in administrative
management.

Mr. Hua Zhangang, aged 48, joined the Group in 2001. Mr. Hua
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr. Hua Zhangang graduated from
the Faculty of Materials Science and Engineering of Jingdezhen
Ceramic Institute. Mr. Hua Zhangang has extensive experience in
production management of refractory materials.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

Since its establishment in China in the 1980s, the Group has been
focusing on the development of rare earth and refractory business
with the advantages of rich domestic resources and technology.
Until the Company was successfully listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1999, the Group
could more effectively contact different overseas investors and
customers. Through multi-faceted cooperation and exchanges, it
hoped to make great progress in the industries.

At the same time, the Group is also committed to establishing good
corporate value, caring for each other, maintaining morality,
advocating integrity, and pursuing excellence, so that the corporate
value can be reflected in the daily business of the Group's
employees and support the business development of the Group. At
the same time, the Group also focuses on communication with
employees, actively establishes effective, continuous and regular
communication channels, shares the corporate value and its
embodiment with employees, shares examples of inappropriate
practices, misconduct and discipline, and conducts an open
exchange of views on the corporate culture.

On the other hand, the Group also attaches great importance to
talents in the enterprise. For excellent employees, the Group will
actively provide generous benefits, and implement a performance
evaluation system in the enterprise, establish appropriate incentives
to reward and praise outstanding talents, and assist them to
develop their careers within the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to attending good corporate
governance practices and procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate
business strategies and policies, and enhance transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the Board, the Company
has complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2024 except for the following:

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June
2024, Mr. Huang Chunhua, the independent non-executive Director
and Mr. Jin Zhong, the former independent non-executive Director,
were unable to attend the above annual general meeting due to
other work commitment.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Company’s
Code") regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all
Directors have complied with the required standards as stated in
the Model Code and the Company’s Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.
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The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Board includes a balanced composition of executive
Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three

independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board and the attendance of the Board

ZHEFEERET meetings and general meeting during the year are as follows:
CE L 78 S5 L
No. of meeting(s) attended/held
Bz Exg BRAE
Director Board meeting General meeting
BITES
Executive Director
BLTRLZT(WN-_FT-_WFRA+LREE) 2/2 11
Ms. Qian Yuanying (resigned on 17 May 2024) 2/2 1”71
BREXE(BEEELE) 4/4 171
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Joint acting Chairman) 4/4 1”71
BREBEEGTTHAZ) 4/4 1
Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 11
BAmAE(R-_Z-_RAF-A+=ARME) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Jiang Cainan (retired on 13 January 2025) 4/4 1”71
BeELZT(RZTE_RAF—A+=-REZM) NE A TEH
Ms. Guo Jinying (appointed on 13 January 2025) N/A N/A
FHTES
Non-executive Director
EMRET(R_Z-_OF+-A+N\BEZEI) NE A TEH
Ms. Huang Liu (appointed on 18 December 2024) N/A N/A
UHBTES
Independent non-executive Director
BERERE 4/4 0/1
Mr. Huang Chunhua 4/4 0N
SEREMN-_ZT-_AF-A+=REMD) 4/4 0/1
Mr. Jin Zhong (retired on 13 January 2025) 4/4 0/1
EREAEE(R-Z_NFNA-—REZEI RS- AF A+ LRHEE) 2/2 171
Mr. Huang Shuwei (appointed on 2 April 2024 and retired 2/2 11
on 17 January 2025)
NRSHEE(RZZEZRAF—A+=-AEZT) NE A E R
Mr. Man Kong Yui (appointed on 13 January 2025) N/A N/A
REAREE(R_ZE_AF-—A+LtBEZHE) NE A E R
Mr. Kang Shuaijie (appointed on 17 January 2025) N/A N/A
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Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive directors during the year.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 14 to 17 of
this annual report.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors whenever
necessary.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
by reading relevant news, journals, magazines and relevant
publications. The Company has provided information relating to the
regulatory update and extracted certain materials from the website
of the Stock Exchange to directors for their own study to
strengthen their understanding on the Listing Rules from time to
time.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Regular Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business development, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate
governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open
for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the roles of the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer were held
separately. Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Ms. Guo Jinying, acted as joint
acting Chairman, while Mr. Jiang Dawei served as the Chief
Executive Officer. The Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer have different roles and responsibilities. The
Chairman is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall
business development policies while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s business.
The Board considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and
distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not necessary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Following the appointment of Mr. Huang Shuwei (retired on 17
January 2025) as an independent non-executive Director on 2 April
2024, the Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting related financial
management expertise since 2 April 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled
professionals with expertise and experience in the field of financial
management and businesses related to the Group. They advise the
Company on strategy development and enable the Board to
maintain high standards of compliance of financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has accepted a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of two years. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that
all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent.

INDEPENDENCE MECHANISM

For each Board meeting, there should be at least one independent
non-executive Director attended to ensure that independent views
and input are available to the Board.

Should there be any Director has interest in matters to be discussed
in Board meeting, such Director should declare his/her interests and
be abstain from voting in meeting and any view from independent
non-executive Directors should be noted.

All independent non-executive Directors may seek assistance from
senior management or independent professional advice at the
Company’s expenses whenever necessary.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive Directors to avoid
bias in their decision-making and compromise their objective and
independence.
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The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment
to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

Implementation and effectiveness of the independence mechanism
during the year was reviewed and the results was satisfactory.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Company is governed by the Board which is collectively
responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs and
oversight of the Group’s businesses, strategic decision and
performance. The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions, financial reporting,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Execution of the Board’s decisions and daily
operations are delegated to the management.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group'’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the Company
Secretary and senior management. Upon reasonable request, all
Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging their
duties to the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and senior managements’ liabilities in respect of any
legal actions taken against them arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Model Code, and the compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board has
considered that diversity of the Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to
the Company’s business growth.

The Nomination Committee and the Board considered that the
current composition of the Board is sufficiently diverse and the
Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions
to the Board for consideration and approval.
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including the
Board, as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:

z E:Xcd

Female Male

o= 14% 86%
The Board 14% 86%
BEAHN 28% 72%
Overall workforce 28% 72%
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With regards to gender diversity on the Board, the Group
recognises the particular importance of gender diversity. As at
31 December 2024, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including one female Director. The Group has taken and will
continue to take steps to promote and enhance gender diversity
at all levels of the Company.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy setting out the relevant
selection criteria and nomination procedures in order to select or
make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships. The selection criteria includes ability to devote
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company,
reputation for integrity, accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industries, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its respects and effectiveness in
carrying out the responsibilities of the Board.

To nominate a Director, the secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the
Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders of the Company, a circular will
be sent to the shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the shareholders to make the nominations. The names,
brief biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidates will be included in the circular to the
shareholders.
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Until the publication of the circular, the nominated persons shall
not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to stand for
election at the general meeting.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to
the Company Secretary of the Company.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy setting out the approach
to target dividend payout ratio of the Company, which is
determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion, subject
to:

1. the requirements of the Company’s constitutional documents;

2. the solvency requirements of the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands;

3. there being sufficient amount of retained profits and share
premium of the Company for the dividend payment;

4. any financial covenants and other restrictions that exist with
respect to certain of the Company’s financing arrangements
and other agreements by which the Company is bound from
time to time;

5. the earnings, financial position, results of operation,
expansion plans, working capital requirements, and

anticipated cash needs of the Company and its subsidiaries;

6. the payment by subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company; and

7. other factors which the Board may deem appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of Board
committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange and are available to shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request, is
able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Group's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the relationship with the auditor of the
Company, the financial information, the financial reporting system,
risk management system and internal control procedures.

The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of the

R Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

K& CE V& Si
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BYFHITES

Independent non-executive Director

BEERLE(ZE) 2/2
Mr. Huang Chunhua (Chairman) 2/2
SEXE(RZZE_RF-A+=BRAE) 2/2
Mr. Jin Zhong (retired on 13 January 2025) 2/2
EEBRAE(R_Z_HNFOA_HAEZEIR-_Z_RAF—ATHRRE) 1/1
Mr. Huang Shuwei (appointed on 2 April 2024 and retired on 17 January 2025) 71
NS EE(R_ZE_AF-—AT+=HEZT) E A
Mr. Man Kong Yui (appointed on 13 January 2025) N/A
EMALE(RZT_AF A+ HEZMHE) i A
Mr. Kang Shuaijie (appointed on 17 January 2025) N/A
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During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, risk management system, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual
results of the Company with the assistance of the auditor without
the presence of the executive Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior
management, and to review their specific remuneration packages.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of the Committee meetings during the year are as
follows:

K& CE L V& 5o L
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BukHTES

Independent non-executive Director

ERBEE(EE) RS _NFNA—AEZTYRAZE_RAF—A+tBRE) E A
Mr. Huang Shuwei (Chairman) (appointed on 2 April 2024 N/A

and retired on 17 January 2025)

BRERLE ”
Mr. Huang Chunhua 171
SERER-Z-RF-A+=HRE) ”
Mr. Jin Zhong (retired on 13 January 2025) 171
NHHEEE(RZZE_AF-—A+T=HEZT) E A
Mr. Man Kong Yui (appointed on 13 January 2025) N/A
REAREER-_ZE_AF-A+LtBEZME) E A
Mr. Kang Shuaijie (appointed on 17 January 2025) N/A
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The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for performing
the functions set out in the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting and
had performed the works as follows:

1. reviewed the Group's remuneration policy and structure;
2. reviewed the terms of service contracts of all Directors;
3. reviewed remuneration packages of the Directors and senior

management; and
4. reviewed the Share Option Scheme of the Company.

The Directors are remunerated with Directors’ fees and only
executive Directors are remunerated with discretionary cash
bonuses and/or share options. All Directors are covered by
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. Directors’ fees are
determined with reference to their respective duties and
responsibility with the Company, the Company's performance,
current market situation and the Group’s remuneration policy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to review
the Board composition with reference to the Board Diversity Policy
adopted, discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors with reference
to the Nomination Policy adopted, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance
of the Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

o8 =] SEHUEBTHE
Member No. of meetings attended/held
BIKBTES

Independent non-executive Director
CEEAE(FRE)R_Z-_RF-—A+=HRE)

Mr. Jin Zhong (Chairman) (retired on 13 January 2025)
BERERE

Mr. Huang Chunhua
XHGHEE(RZE-_AF—A+=BEZE)

Mr. Man Kong Yui (appointed on 13 January 2025)
BEOAEER-Z-_AF-—A+-HEZE)

Mr. Kang Shuaijie (appointed on 17 January 2025)
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During the meetings, the Nomination Committee with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy reviewed the
Board composition and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee
considered that the Board composition is appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every Director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and the Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 , Mr. Huang Chunhua, Ms.
Guo Jinying, Ms. Huang Liu, Mr. Man Kong Yui and Mr. Kang
Shuaijie will retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024. It is the Directors’ responsibility to prepare
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, the results and cash flows for each financial
period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have to
ensure that appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The
financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about the reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 52 to 64 of this annual
report.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report, Mr. Chu Kin Ming has tendered his resignation as the (i)
company secretary (the “Company Secretary”), (i) an authorised
representative of the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules
(the "Authorised Representative”); and (iii) authorised
representative for accepting service of process or notice on behalf
of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Process
Agent”), with effect from 13 September 2024. Mr. Yu Tak Shing
Eric (“Mr. Yu"”) was appointed as the Company Secretary, an
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent with effect from
13 September 2024.

On 13 January 2025, Mr. Yu has ceased to act as the Authorised
Representative and the Process Agent, and Ms. Tsui Mei Fung (“Ms.
Tsui”) was appointed as a joint company secretary (“Joint Company
Secretary”), the Authorised Representative and the Process Agent.
Mr. Yu continue to serve as the other Joint Company Secretary.

Mr. Yu has been an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since October 1999 and has been a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practicing Accountants (now known as CPA Australia) since March
1998. He graduated from the University of Wollongong, Australia
in October 1993 with a Bachelor of Commerce in legal studies and
accountancy. Mr. Yu has extensive experiences in the field of
auditing, accounting, financial management and company
secretarial matters.
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Ms. Tsui is appointed a representative from an external secretarial
services provider as one of the Joint Company Secretaries. The
primary contact person of the Company in relation to company
secretarial matters with Ms. Tsui is Mr. Yu, one of Joint Company
Secretaries. Ms. Tsui is responsible for advising the Board regarding
corporate governance matters to ensure regulatory compliance and
corporate governance functions of the Group to be carried out in
an efficient and effective manner. Ms. Tsui holds a bachelor’s
degree in accounting, a master’'s degree in corporate governance
and is an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. Ms. Tsui has extensive experience in corporate secretarial
field.

Mr. Yu and Ms. Tsui have confirmed that each of them received no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
REMUNERATION

The Company has established a transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The remuneration paid or payable to senior management, excluding
the Directors, for the year ended 31 December 2024, are within the
following bands:

AB

No. of individuals

£ -1,000,000 % 7T
Nil - HK$1,000,000

RE-F-mE+-A=+-BLERERS

ERFEELREREEBZENEFBIHRES
B ISR R M 5108211 ©
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Details of the remuneration paid or payable to Directors and senior
management for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.



EFXRERBHS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BBz #E
RAFEE  ARBHZHEE R ZBRRE (B
REMRB)XHFZMESMT:

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
(including other services) provided by the auditor of the Company,
is as follows:

12 5 09 AR %5 BT
Services rendered HK$
EZRB 2,000,000
Audit services 2,000,000
FEEZRG 300,000
Non-audit services 300,000

[ By % Rk BREE 4E
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g ERZEGLRRAEHEEMEMK -
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BREFEEL LEUAREBR HERERME
HHNEARR BEZZEEHMPETTERA
RERMABERRGNEERY MaRE
BEEAABERIARATERER -ZETESRE
EEEMFBEBREEREFEEORR - M
BRERTEFEEANKRERAIBRELE
BWIEEENRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and senior
management of the Group.

The Board evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
principal risks that are acceptable in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and acknowledges its overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. Risks include materials risks relating to
business, operational as well as environmental, social and
governance. The Audit Committee supports the Board in
monitoring the operating effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, while the senior management is
responsible for the design and implementation of relevant
procedures. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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The Group has adopted various risk management procedures and
guidelines with defined authority for implementation by major
units or departments, including sales and collection, procurement
and payment, production and warehousing, finance and treasury as
well as fixed assets management. Each major unit or department is
responsible for daily risk management activities, including
identifying major risks that might impact on the Group's
performance, accessing and evaluating the identified risks
according to their likely impacts and the likelihood of occurrence,
formulating and implementing measures, controls and response
plans to manage and mitigate such risks. Designated senior
management is responsible for liaison with local authorities for the
matters relating to environment and social issues. During monthly
regular meetings, heads of major operation units or departments
discuss the business and report the risk management and internal
control matters to the Group's Chief Executive Officer, who is
directly responsible to the Board.

In view of the importance of the treasury cycle, principally it is
processed by segregation of duties and proper approval is needed
for all payment and fund management. Each subsidiary will review
its own cash position continuously to ensure that there is adequate
fund available to support its operation and development. The
Chairman of the Board will work together with all executive
Directors to monitor the overall financial resources of the Group
and carry out fund allocation.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the
responsibility to oversee the risk management and internal control
systems on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of
the systems annually. To perform the internal audit function, the
Group has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems with the assistance of an
independent advisor during the year and reported the key findings
to the Audit Committee. The review covers major and material
controls in areas of financial, operational and compliance and risk
management functions. Although there is room for improvement,
no significant deficiency of the internal control has been identified
in the review.
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The Group has maintained internal guidelines for ensuring that
inside information is disseminated to the public in an equal and
timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Senior executives of the investor relations, corporate
affairs and financial control functions of the Group are delegated
with responsibilities to control and monitor the disclosure of inside
information. Access to inside information is confined to relevant
senior management on “need-to-know"” basis. Relevant personnel
and other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve
confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
General meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Auditor of the Company is
also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
("AGM") and is available to assist the Directors in addressing
queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor’s Report.
Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Notice of AGM and extraordinary general meetings (“"EGM")
together with related papers are sent to the shareholders at least
21 days and 14 days before the respective meetings, setting out
details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures and other
relevant information. All votes of shareholders at the general
meeting will be decided by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. The
chairman of the meeting will demand that all resolutions put to the
vote at general meetings be taken by poll and will explain such
rights and procedures during the general meetings before voting
on the resolutions. An independent scrutineer will be appointed to
count the votes and the poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the general
meetings.

Annual Report 2024 4

35



36

EXRERGCHS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARBBRRATRARBNAE SR AR F645
ERBAKRRENAE - RRARBRRFHK
gZRRFMT

. REREFKEZABAELARAEBET
RERREREZBRBRAT IR+ 5
Z—H—RHIAEBRRIFRAD BRI
EHBANBERARAEEERBRRER
RE UBREZFREPEBZEMSE
15 o

2. BABBKREEANETEAAZUATEZEHIN
HRAAAREETRAFTMEEL:

AATAREBZTELEENY
ik: FEALEALBENEREZE
10058 B @A D100 E

B :  info@creh.com.hk
s AN BEARWE

AR ERER
i REARAMBEIGAEED
THE

gEA BEARWE

AAREMPER

4k : Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

A BEARME

BREREEEENZ2S BEFBERS
D LEARAREE - RRERTRERE
ERBEMTNKE -

3. BREBIARGENRAEHBERERERM
EARETT -

4. WMEERERZREEF T -BAA
MRZAE  BRAXGAAERTT XA -
MEKADESRETEMELEZ 1)
AEMXEARARREETHERA

Annual Report 2024 4:#

Shareholders of the Company can make a requisition to convene an
EGM pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. The procedures for the shareholders to convene an
EGM are as follows:

1. One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings shall have the right, by written notice, to
require an EGM to be called by the Directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

2. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or
the Company Secretary of the Company at all of the

following addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Unit 1011, 10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre,
100 Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Attention: Joint Company Secretaries

Head office of the Company

Address: Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province,
the People’s Republic of China
Attention: Joint Company Secretaries

Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention: Joint Company Secretaries

Shareholders must provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to given effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

3. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

4. If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting
within 21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist himself may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the Requisitionist as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist by the
Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the
Company

For matters in relation to the Board, shareholders can contact the
Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1011, 10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre, 100
Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Telephone: (852) 2869 6283

Fax: (852) 2136 0030

Attention: Joint Company Secretaries

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates
or dividend warrants, the registered shareholders can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Address: 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2862 8555

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
("Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1011,
10/F., Harbour Crystal Centre, 100 Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include
the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned
at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the
Proposal as follows:

1. At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

2. At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an
EGM or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an AGM.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and other information are posted.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has in place a Shareholders Communication Policy.
The policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of
ensuring that shareholders, and, in appropriate circumstances, the
investment community at large, are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to balanced and understandable information about
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals
and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in
order to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders and the investment community
to engage actively with the Company. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established certain channels for maintaining an
on-going dialogue with its shareholders as follows:

1. Corporate communication

Corporate communication will be provided to shareholders in
plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate shareholders’ understanding.

2. Corporate website

A dedicated investor relations section titled “Investor
Relations” is available on the Company website (www.creh.
com.hk). Information on the Company’s website is updated
on a regular basis. Information released by the Company to
the Stock Exchange is also posted on the Company’s website
immediately thereafter. Such information includes financial
statements, results announcements, circulars and notices of
general meetings and associated explanatory documents, etc.



EFXRERBHS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRRAE
ERER2ARRAGH(MEERE
FRE)ZERRRAELFEASTEIRE L
KR -BRREFAEREHELES LT
N BBRR2E ARARRAG 2R
FRTERERERES WEFE  HEF
HEGUEREERERRZFE -
EeXBE(LEREFZEEIRIANR
R) BEEETHRABRINEZBOEK
EERRBFRAGURMERRER -

ERXH
RAEER  ART 2 ERXHLEES -

3. Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend
the meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the annual
general meetings shall be in place to encourage shareholders’
participation. The process of the Company’s general meetings
will be monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’
needs are best served. Board members, in particular, the
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” for the
discussion of business review of the Group’s businesses for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 65
of this annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared and paid to the
shareholders for the year.

Details of other appropriations are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the
share premium account and retained profits/accumulated losses. As
at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$1,661,136,000.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on page 168 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. Qian Yuanying (resigned on 17 May 2024)

Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Joint acting Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Dawei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Jiang Cainan (retired on 13 January 2025)

Ms. Guo Jinying (Joint acting Chairman)
(appointed on 13 January 2025)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Huang Liu (appointed on 18 December 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong (retired on 13 January 2025)

Mr. Huang Shuwei (appointed on 2 April 2024 and retired on
17 January 2025)

Mr. Man Kong Yui (appointed on 13 January 2025)

Mr. Kang Shuaijie (appointed on 17 January 2025)

Annual Report 2024 4

4]



SEEBWSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BEARBMEHSERMA E108R112(6 - &
EER4E BLEzL EWLLT  XBHE
EREMATEBRIBRITHRREFRS
FRERMT HAERIBESBERETL-

RZBE-ZWNE+-A=+—HB HEEFER
REFUFTAHARBAR - FRARIEMBAX
NZAERERIINEENRBE LN -

ESRIETBRAEBHNESERAR

RZZEZNFEF+ZA=+—HB FRaKESE
HFREEEMN(EHFRAEGKI]) E3521&MmF
BEEMARS KB LETAREEET
BHERHMZESTRIMBNADRR RN
ARREERFETHAEREET@ERAL
RARBIREEBE LR ZKRG - HERGRE
SHEZRARNT:

1. RARRRGER

B EEME 50

Director

Nature of interest/Capacity

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112, Mr. Huang Chunhua, Ms.
Guo Jinying, Ms. Huang Liu, Mr. Man Kong Yui and Mr. Kang
Shuaijie will retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were
as follows:

1. Interests in shares of the Company

EERNRB BT
BRAWE DL
% to the issued
share capital of
the Company

B4 8B

Number of shares

R

Jiang Quanlong

Bz REQRZES

Interest of spouse/Interest of

controlled corporation

BARE EEBEAA
Jiang Dawei Beneficial owner
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728,179,200 (ft i 1% 2) 31.10%
728,179,200 (Notes 1 & 2) 31.10%
530,077 (A1 7£3) 0.02%
530,077 (Note 3) 0.02%
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Notes:

707,179,200 shares are held in long position through YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the
discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned by
Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and
her sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within
the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is
the director of YY Holdings Limited.

21,000,000 shares are held in long position through Praise
Fortune Limited, 39.93% of its issued share capital is held by
Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong. Ms.
Qian Yuanying is a director of Praise Fortune Limited.

All the shares are held in long position.

REBIATRG  HEAROGIRAER 2.

@ WMHERERAE

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests

in associated corporations

(@) Microtech Resources Limited

AR BT

BEx Bat®E 54 R &A RANBD
% to the issued

Nature of share capital of

Director interest/Capacity Number of shares the Company
& B BEREAA R R R T R 197,000,000A% 70%
Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner 7,000,000 non-voting deferred 70%

shares
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(b) HEFEFKELFRRE] (b)  Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited
= EEME 54 REBEZBDL
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
B XERRZER 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 5%
Vi Note:

ERS AR RNREBERAT The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
EE B Y m B R EES PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
0% - BT H10% K B E R IE 5 with the remaining 10% owned by his spouse Ms. Qian
FHAEA BREALTAZN Y Yuanying. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the legal representative

HETRE A of the enterprise.

(©  YY Holdings Limited (c)  YY Holdings Limited

HELARE BT
NG i
=2 EEUE 540 ERITROBERER MBS

% in the class of
shares in the issued

Nature of Number and class of share capital of

Director interest/Capacity issued shares the company

R EE REERA R EE R 1A% 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled 1 ordinary share 100%
corporation

BoREE XERAZER 18 55 IR 925,000 8% 100%

Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled 25,000 preference shares 100%

corporation

Bt Note:

YY Holdings Limited ) & #B B 2 1T IR & The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held
YY Trust®) & £ AYYT (PTC) Limited FT # by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the
B MEXHEARBRESENREBE discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned by
TEZTREFR2EARENAT - &E Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and
HRBEEOEXVBZEEB IR L L her sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within
BYY TrustBI L A BRESLEARYYT the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong is
(PTC) Limited ) & = - the director of YYT (PTC) Limited.

A4 Annual Report 2024 4:#



EEEBWSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BREMFERN RZEZMFE+ZA=1+—H "
BEELSRBEEPEINERFE 2 E LM
WETE BMERARAREEXRETZTHAERHE
ZREBATREARAARERABE AR ZBRG
HERNEEFHEIER A BT AE K

Ao
TERFREZRAR

BESFeMN RZZ-_WF+=A=+—8"
RARKEFEFRPEKN E3B6KEMEE 2
EEMAME BRARRESREZTHASR
Gh - B IR B35 A A D R A B 1D K 4B BE R 1D &
N0/ 8- (IINE

1. YY Holdings Limited #) % & &, % 17 B 78 |
YY Trust 89 2 55 AYYT (PTC) Limited FT #
B MEXZAABBRELEEGFTES)
WEBETRLZTRERF2EREN
NE - BBFLHEROIEXVE 2 EE -
BT R T BYY Trust 89 Bl #8 A e YY
Holdings Limited A E @ #E B A F A
AR #)707,179,200 X B 17 4915 AR A
B 81T IRA#I30.20% °

2. YYT(PTC) Limited W R B EHEFHEE S
BT AAYY Holdings Limited T #
B ARR R RD707,179,200 08 K #E 25 ©

3. Praise Fortune Limited A E R B A &
13 ¥ A A2 521,000,000 % B 17 - 4915 A
REIBEITHAL0.90% » B RELLE(H
TEE)WEBE T E L+ # A Praise
Fortune Limited 2 2 17 R 2~ #939.93% ©
T % 42 + A Praise Fortune Limited () £ = -

BB R_F-_MEF—A=+—H"
RBESFN B EGHE3B6EAFE ZE M
NAE BARREERTETRABRN £
BEHEMALTBARRRNEARB ZKHHIAEH
B FAEMEDSIAE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
kept under Section 352 of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2024, the
interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital is held by
YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong (executive
Director), and her sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of
YY Trust within the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. YY
Holdings Limited, was holding 707,179,200 shares of the
Company in long position, representing approximately
30.20% of the issued share capital of the Company as
beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in long
position in 707,179,200 shares of the Company held by YY
Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is
held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

3. Praise Fortune Limited was holding 21,000,000 shares of the
Company in a long position, representing approximately
0.90% of the issued share capital of the Company. Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong (executive
Director), held 39.93% of the issued share capital of Praise
Fortune Limited. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a director of Praise
Fortune Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the Directors or
chief executives of the Company, has notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “New
Scheme") with effective from 6 June 2014. The New Scheme is
operated for the purpose of providing incentives to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The eligible participants include
any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including any
executive director), any non-executive director, any shareholder,
any supplier and any customer of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest, and any party having contributed to the
development and growth of the Group.

Further details of the New Scheme are disclosed in the circular of
the Company dated 24 April 2014 and note 28 to the financial
statements. The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years from 6 June 2014, the date on which the New Scheme
was adopted. The New Scheme has expired on 6 June 2024 and no
further share options should be offered or granted under the New
Scheme on or after 6 June 2024. During the year, 87,500,000 share
options was lapsed. As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024,
the number of share option outstanding was 87,500,000 and nil
respectively.

On 30 November 2022, five proposed employees and five existing
employees of the Group were offered to grant options under the
New Scheme.
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Particulars of the movement of the options granted under the New
Scheme during the year were as follows:

ERERA
Number of options
R-ZZ2-m%F
RZB-mE REARHE +t=ZA=t-8
su% BREAS TRE BRTEE -—-A-BEE REARE RERTE FEX ]
Cancelled
Exercise Held at Granted Exercised or lapsed Held at
price per 1 January during during during 31 December
Participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2024 the year the year the year 2024
]
Employees
At ZEZZ#+-A=+B ZZZZF+-A=fHZ 051%7L 31,500,000 - - (31,500,000) -
ZZ-WEARARA
In aggregate 30 November 2022 30 November 2023 to HK$0.51 31,500,000 - - (31,500,000) -
5 June 2024
BRES
Proposed employees
At ZTZZ4+-A=tA ZZT-=F+-A=t+AZ 051%7 56,000,000 - - (56,000,000) -
“R-WEAXARA
In aggregate 30 November 2022 30 November 2023 to HK$0.51 56,000,000 - - (56,000,000) -
5 June 2024
&
Total 87,500,000 - - (87,500,000) -

BREREEARABRMN 2K TERSE

JT °©

BERIEIEREZEBEHA_S_—_F+—A8
ZtHEZZT-_=F+—A=+NB  miTFH
AT =ZF+—R=Z+tHE-ZT-_NF XA
TH-

T RERER—2REAREZEREZRRE
BATEM S 2GR/ REREEHN T

LEBEBES
T4 REREBZERBEZRELTEAFRS
EEMRASEEERTAEE -

The closing price of the Company’s shares on the date on which
the options were granted was HK$0.51.

The vesting period of the options granted is from 30 November
2022 to 29 November 2023, while the exercise period is from 30
November 2023 to 5 June 2024.

The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the five
proposed employees and one existing employee carry conditions
and/or performance target as follows:

The five proposed employees

The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the five
proposed employees shall be conditional upon the acceptance of
their employment offer as an employee of the Group.
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The one existing employee

The vesting and exercise of the options granted to the one existing
employee shall be conditional upon the fulfillment of a
performance target of achieving an appraisal target to be assessed
by the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The above options were all lapsed.

During the year, 87,500,000 share options was lapsed. As at 1
January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of share option
outstanding was 87,500,000 and nil respectively.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enables any of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Details of the share options granted during the year are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a beneficial interest, either direct or
indirect, in any contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as
permitted under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for the
benefit of the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions are
provided for in the Company’s Articles of Association and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with any proceedings that
may brought against the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company'’s listed securities by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to
the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
— the largest customer 25%
— five largest customers combined 88%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 54%
— five largest suppliers combined 95%

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital to the knowledge of the Directors, have any interest
in the share capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers
of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to developing and maintaining robust
corporate governance practices to safeguard the interests of its
shareholders and to enhance corporate value, accountability and
transparency of the Company. Information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 18 to 39 of this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association and the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands in relation to the issue of new shares by the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. There has been no change
of auditor in the past three years.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board are not aware of any significant event which had
material effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2025 Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") will be held on 20
June 2025. A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant
documents will be published and dispatched to the shareholders of
the Company in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules in due course.



EEEBWSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEMEROMBFERTFE
ARRBR-_ZE-_AFNA+ERA(EHD)E=
E_HEANBE-THEHR) BEEEREK
TERERMBEELTFE HHEBTEHET
THBROzBFEEL AREBREEREFER
ERFARERRELRF BREER=-F=-A
FRATABER ) TIEE=T2ABE
Nl EHOEE g EREEREINE
REIBROBPELREBEBIRIBEAPRES
B ERAR] MUt AEBETFERAER
18388 & A1 1 M7#81712-1716% - U E LB
s -

REEFE

BRE
BEEELE

AR ZF-AF=A=1—H

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company's register of members will be closed from Tuesday,
17 June 2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. To ensure that
shareholders are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM,
shareholders must deliver their duly stamped instruments of
transfer, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, to the
Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16 June 2025 for registration of the relevant
transfer.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong
Joint Acting Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Annual Report 2024 4

S



52

18 Y7 1% Y B ¥R &5
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

g

D

Ascenda CACFET

RITE|Z[35

B % B
BHERIERERATDERRE
(REEHEEMK L ZERAF)

=2
=

EEEERECEZICTEMS T EM LER
BERAB(ERBDREMBAR(TXAMEIE
SEDRAMBERE BRR-_F-MOF
TA=T - BZREMBARARR KB EZA
LFEzHaBER FeBahEtizEEK
BR HAREREPRIEAHTRERUAR
et BREASHRREMREMBERER -

ZERB HRAVBHRERERESBCHAQ
e([(EASAMAS)BEHzE BB RELE
A((EABRELEANEEAFIRE &
SRR T -_MNE+-_A=1t—HZHAHK
MAEBEZBLEE GV BERERES
Beng TEERFBRARGKAZEERT
ZRRE o

=
)
=

Annual Report 2024 44

10/F Tien Chu Commercial Bldg.
173 Gloucester Road

Wanchai Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 65 to 167 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit
opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BEEBFEREME

Valuation of the Group’s inventories

FLHGEHBERENF2NRIQ)ZEFREFHSTHE  ABTRIGGAURGEE I HRENF202#— 20 EH -
Refer to notes 2(h) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting
policies, judgements and estimates and note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for further information.

BEETEH
Key Audit Matter

RZE-_NME+-A=+—H X BESXEFENEREHEHE
#) /259,457,000 7T

The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories was
approximately HK$259,457,000 as at 31 December 2024.

EREEERAREBBREPZAAEERMAA TR Z
RARETHENT AR AETFE 2/ 25 HE
BRIk ENMEFTRBER -

Management determined the net realisable value of the
inventories by using the estimated selling prices in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale, which involved significant estimates and
assumptions.

ETMRAEEBERAE DREAEFEEFERELR
REHEREBMEL -

The determination of the basis of write-down is a
significant judgement based on historical experience of
stock losses and expected future selling prices.

EEER-_Z-_MF+_A=T—HENGEEELE ' I
REBEE-_T-_HNEF+ A=+ —"HLEFEEED
14,485,000/ 7T A7 E MO ERZEH A Z I FE -
The Group carried out the inventory review as at 31
December 2024 and provided allowances of approximately
HK$14,485,000 to write down inventories to their net
realisable value during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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REFHEEHERERNSZTEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEHEREY EXAETECREENGETZRE
FREESPEBREINTEE:

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
of the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
included, among others, the followings:

s THREBEMIFTEUERFENTE  RIAGE
BEAEHBEBMITANERE:

e Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the net realisable value of inventories and
evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
estimation by management;

e HEBENRMLAGEEEMFIAREE THZ
BARETHENT Z AR ABEERE

e Discussing with management and assessing the basis
of the management’s estimation of subsequent selling
prices, costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale;

e NEFEFENERFAEAMERANT ERKRS:
ENHETEMRBRERBEEREDSRE:

e Assessing the methodology and assumptions used in
the calculation of the net realisable value of the
inventories; and recalculating the allowance and
reversal of allowances for write-down of inventories;
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Valuation of the Group’s inventories (Continued)

BeEESSH
Key Audit Matter

REEEEMETFECAEZRFE ERERAARN
“ZME+_HA=t—0 EXEZEEMEERRE -
Based on the management’s determination of the net
realisable value of the inventories, the management
concluded that the valuation of the Group’s inventories
was fairly stated as at 31 December 2024.

MR ERERENRRTREFEE 2 EERFE
KEZERgt28 RG  RMEZLRBREN
£

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the balance involved and the significant
accounting judgements and estimates required in
assessing the net realisable value of inventories.

B Y% e R S
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REFTEERREMAZTEZEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

e MEGERNBMEPRENER  THRZEAKEST
HEMH < AR LR RAAB L R

e Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the selling prices of the inventories
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
costs of completion and the costs necessary to make
the sale; and

o HAMER-ZZ_WE+_A=1+—BHMHsIE
REBEERKANBEERETREN

e Assessing the sufficiency of allowances where the
estimated net realisable value was lower than the cost
as at 31 December 2024.
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B 5 B & W AR 7 9 6l 1B

Impairment of the Group's trade receivables

BEHEEHBREMT209)) 20)RU)CEFEREFHEHE  HBRIETAREEHBFERRM Z21K33(a)

ZE—HEH

Refer to notes 2(g)(i), 2(j) and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the related
accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 21 and 33(a) to the consolidated financial statements for further

information.

BEETEH
Key Audit Matter

REZZ-_WE+=A=+—H' BS£EERKEXOED
{E#4973585,672,00078 7 » KR AL (B /E5 18 4952,896,00078 7T °
The carrying amount of the Group's trade receivables was
approximately HK$585,672,000 as at 31 December 2024,
net of impairment losses of approximately
HK$52,896,000.

ETESRURENRHCEEFR(REHEEREED
MEBRBERAFLHERNERHE  HtREBER &
DEREPOBOE BHEUFIEREK EXEE
B1R 5 TR ROR R A A AR R TR o

Significant management judgements, estimations and
assumptions were required in determining the loss
allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the trade
receivables, with reference to the groupings of various
customer segments, ageing profile of the trade
receivables, historical credit loss experience, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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REFHEEHERRNSZTEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEREREY EEEREBURERRZAENHETZ
BreE(EFeE) A TEE:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment on the Group's trade receivables included,
among others, the followings:

e T EEEREBEMCERERAUEEER
W RO B AT 2 B g i ] 2 5t~ B RE
PR

e Understanding the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the Group’s key controls
over credit control, debt collection and impairment
assessment under the ECL model;

i

RS

i

Z

i

e NEEBEERGITEAERSMERAEN ZSENL

BEl BEERERZERESN - FERNAH

XA A KA ERITER EAR SRR ETL R

e Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness of

the information used by the management to develop

the provision matrix including ageing analysis of trade

receivables, on a sample basis, by comparing individual
items in the analysis with the relevant sales invoices;
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Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables (Continued)

BeEESSH
Key Audit Matter

REFTEERREMAZTEZEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HE_Z-_NF+-A=+—BLEFEHH  EEE
JFE Ui BR R 2 R MBS 48 % RE B B 49 /34,168,000 TT ©
The Group made reversal of net impairment loss on trade
receivables amounting to approximately HK$4,168,000
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

RBEBTEEUENEEHEEXTRERT 2 REFE
ERERLEARRAR T _NF+_A=1T—HZE
WERREEEEZHA -

Based on the management’s assessment on the
impairment of trade receivables under the ECL model, the
management concluded that the impairment loss on trade
receivables was adequate as at 31 December 2024.

MR ERERESROAE  BREiBER GG T E T
RETRUGERENBEERGERIREEEAHENE
B RMERMEABRETSEE -

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
magnitude of the trade receivable balances, the higher
degree of estimation uncertainty and the subjectivity in
management’s judgement involved in determining the
expected loss allowance of the trade receivables.

BEREEREMEAZER BEEHERREY
FEEREREKER 2HA AABEEOEE 2
Rl TEBAEEREIERBERITLBEMRRK
AIENERETAEABRIRERAFEMTHEZE
BRREERE UFEEEERNEE S _NE+=
R =+ — B W R 2 R (E & 18 5 AT 1 i 20 B R
steaBt:

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
judgement and estimates in determining impairment
loss on trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 by
examining the information used by management,
including review of management’s identification of
trade receivables with credit impaired, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information, and examining the
actual impairment losses recorded during the current
year;

ENAERZE_NFEF_A=1T—BZ2EKER
WMEEE: R

Recalculating the impairment losses on trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024; and

RB|ERRRE  IHEFARETPREKRER 2
Hig 5 EIER ©

Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by the customer after
the end of the reporting period.
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BEBAYXE BERRBUREHAEEEZHE

Impairment of the Group's property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

BEBERBEBERM E20e)  2(f) 29N RAQ)CEFREFHETHE  HBRIGAUREEH BRI 17

K18z #—HEH °

Refer to notes 2(e), 2(f), 2(g)(ii) * and 4(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements for

further information.

BEETEH
Key Audit Matter

EEER-_ZT-_NME+-_A=+—HZU%¥ BERR
BIARERESEED B 4 &89,230,000% T &
69,685,000/ 7T - B BEEEW L EBH KM A ERH
ReELEN((ReELBNPZEEER_Z -
F+-A=+—HZKRHEED A 4 568,271,000/ T &
90,037,000 7T °

The Group's property, plant and equipment, and right-of-
use assets were approximately HK$89,230,000 and
HK$69,685,000, respectively, as at 31 December 2024, of
which the carrying amounts of these assets in the Group's
cash generating units (“CGUs") of rare earth business and
refractory business were approximately HK$68,271,000
and HK$90,037,000, respectively, as at 31 December
2024.

REBREHR BEEERBEABRIIBEHES &
SENReELABENNTEREELEURE LR
EpR MEREETR ESEBGFHREES
B8 i 1) A Y [ FREE e

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performed
a review on the Group’s CGUs based on internal and
external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that the CGU may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the Group will estimate the recoverable
amount of the CGU.
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REFHEEHERRNSZTEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EEW BEEENRSELEUNREEENRET
HAETZEFBFE(ERBE) N TRIEA:

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
these assets on the Group’s CGUs included, among
others, the followings:

e RE EXENSHABREREEYH EKEEHBH
TR AEEREHReELESBMMNER:

e Assessing management's identification of CGUs based
on the Group’s accounting policies and our
understanding of the Group's businesses;

e EHEREREY EEERELBLRENRZA
i s

e Reviewing management’s assessment of impairment
indication on the Group’s CGUs;

o EMERMMNER BARFEHREEER)
e Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer (if applicable);

o FMEHERNRTEAMERIAERE RS E (N
)

e Assessing the relevance and reasonableness of
valuation techniques used by the Valuer (if applicable);
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Impairment of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

BeEESSH
Key Audit Matter

BRHETEBERMAEBRELEEUmMS  ARNER
BR-ZZ-_MFE+_A=T—H®ERFETR B
ETRERN G ZEMET A=+ —H BT EB
EMAEBReELEUNAKRESE DR E5E
2% BEEEZENBIAERFTRMMERM(EHERMD
BEREEMERETE -

For the CGU of rare earth business and refractory
business, impairment assessments were conducted by the
management as a result of impairment indication
identified as at 31 December 2024. The recoverable
amounts of the CGU of rare earth business and refractory
business as at 31 December 2024 were determined by the
Group with reference to the value in use calculations
performed by an independent qualified professional valuer
(the “Valuer”) engaged by the Group.

RAERENS  REEESEZHBEREESEM
MERECEFEM ANEHEHERECRAERRE
iR eRERAKERBENEEE - REST
WMEFGE ERESRBEARAG AR EL
EUREFTEREEAESR CHERS  BFERS
MEFERARERAZBWARKAERERZEEREN
RERKREREEE ABREZBRE -

For the purpose of assessing the impairment, these assets
were allocated to corresponding CGUs, in which, the
recoverable amount of each CGU was determined by
management based on value-in-use calculations using
cash flow projections approved by management. In
carrying out the impairment assessments, significant
management judgement was used to appropriately
identify CGUs and to determine the key assumptions,
including revenue and cost growth rates, terminal growth
rates used in the cash flow projection and the discount
rate applied to bring the future cash flows back to their
present values.

B Y% e R S
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REFTEERREMAZTEZEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

AEMBRERRANERLGFRBER(BEER
BRANBUABRERZFRERE)NGEN - &
LEFE e A R AR S H B RATHTEA

Assessing the reasonableness of key estimates and
assumptions applied in the financial budget including
revenue growth rates and terminal growth rate
applied by management by comparing them with
historic results and latest economic and industry
forecasts;

AHAERBEEFENEELERERZEERERA
MBABBIEEEHEANERERRMBREE
EXFHBE R

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculation and agreed input data used by
management to supporting evidence such as actual
results and financial budget approved by
management; and
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BEBYX BERRBEURCEHAEZEZBE(H)

Impairment of the Group'’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

BEETEH
Key Audit Matter

REBHENE RZZ_WHF+T_A=+—H T EH
MIEBRELELEUNZSEEFLREREE M
RZE-_MF+-A=+—B FEEFMAEBKRE
EEBUNDE BELRBEUALEBESEEFELR
1813,880,0007% 7T }7,952,0007% 7T, °

Based on the impairment assessments, there is no
provision for impairment in respect of these assets for the
CGU of rare earth business as at 31 December 2024 and
the Group impaired of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of HK$13,880,000 and HK$7,952,000
for the CGU of refractory business as at 31 December
2024.

HREHZUBEEH  BSRHAB 2 T8 E KRG
THEY  BMEELSERESFEE-

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the financial
significance of the balances, subjectivity of judgements
and estimation uncertainty involved.
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REFHEEHERERNSZTEZAE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

AP R E R R E AR R R R TR
Bt UEREMESBAENAE(EFHAR)
TEBEHAROSFEEES KEL -

Performing sensitivity analyses by making adjustments
to the key assumptions in management’s impairment
assessment and considering whether any reasonably
possible adjustments, in isolation or as a combination,
would result in material change in recoverable
amounts.



GEMBBRERRAZRBAREUININ
a8

BERRIEERAEMENEBR - HMBENBREF
BB MBEER  ERAMEHRRIRESH
BB Z B RE BRI o

BEEHGAMBRRRELBERLTEELM
EW BEETTERURECANTAZRES

A
af ©

RESHESMBRRET BRI TEMS
EEREEMEMEN YZBEMERRSR
BESUBRRIEENEATEMEREHR
ZEHBREATHABER  XLEEMCTE S
RERERRM -

WESERFEATIEMGHEIMENEEA
BERR R USSAERERER - B
B BESYMAERZEE -

ESRGAMBRRAREZER

ERAEZAAARBREEGAMAERM L
BEUBREEMNREERARGH 2 KEEK
REAEDTHRRBEALZLGEAMBRE R
ErETHRAR AV BRERBLEZARN
MER UEZFGEAMBRETEFEHAN
BAFRBERMERZBERNERRAL -

ERAEAGAUBHRRE X BERAREFAEN
i ERERERKEZEN XYEERBART
PEAKBELEZAHMZEE URERAFER
EREFER K BERARNEFEER =
SEBFRIFLLE AR EEMERERT

-
=

B Y% e R S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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REMBETREUBBRRAREZ
BfE
EEARRHGANGRAERRTTEE
MARERERMER 2 EASRERAREA
BRE THARABESEAZREARS -
EETREERIBERREAZBRERS -
THEEMAR - BEUTRARE 2 AR HE
AEmATAERRBES -

FRERERSERILE HERBEBEEEME
AETZERTETEREBEREMFREL
BARERRM - SHRRAA AMGFRBRES
A ERERERABAT AT E-RRAE
REEEMBRERELZEBERER @ ARE
RERBRER

ERBEEAERAEUNETEF 2BET  BF
EREXRHE  REFXEREE - BFN:

. HR T HHRRFRERMERRE
MERRGEEERNERBLRZ AR &
SAERTEARFABRBYZSRARK A
RERTRMBEE2EFEE ERT
EERZER - ANEGFAIRE S RPE -
BE EEZER EHEBRANKZEEANDD
EREzER AR RERSFEmE
BzEAERBRAZEARE R RAERSR
FHIERMERZEAHRRM Z AR -

REETHB ABPEEE - L& E
ZEGEF EYHFEEY EEEBER
MEEIE AR ERER -

e
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The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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BEETMEXRZESEHRY BHEHEZFEN
FEMBYUMZHBERER YEREER
ARERAERREYEEST B M ZMERRE
REMEE  WEBEREERRR 2T HN
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safequards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025

Lai Wing Ip
Practising Certificate Number P07296
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E_-_NEF -
2024 2023
Bt 5 FERx FHEIT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
A Revenue 5 756,657 686,073
85 & A A Cost of sales (809,646) (837,388)
2% | Gross loss (52,989) (151,315)
H g A Other income 6 2,007 2,862
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (4,922) (9,823)
EEER Administrative expenses (31,508) (46,035)
FTRESEZREER Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets 18(iii) (7,952) -
ME BERKELZ Impairment loss on property, plant
VEREN, SEi-| and equipment 17(iii) (13,880) -
Hiplgzk /(E8) FE Other net gain/(loss) 7 2,709 (11,264)
BB A E 2 W Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 30 - 5,719
REEEEE Loss from operations (106,535) (209,856)
B 75 B AR Finance costs 8(a) (42) (309)
CX N0 k] Loss before taxation 8 (106,577) (210,165)
TR () e Income tax (charge)/credit 9 (569) 561
AEEEE Loss for the year (107,146) (209,604)
THALTELERFEERBE: Loss for the year attributable to:
ViN/NETEZ PPN Owners of the Company (104,924) (200,545)
TR E = Non-controlling interests (2,222) (9,059)
(107,146) (209,604)
BREE Loss per share
—ERREE ~ Basic and diluted 14 HK(4.48) centsi&fll  HK(8.56) centsi& 1l

FNERGTACHEBKRGEEMBHERRES

— & -

financial statements.

The notes on pages 72 to 167 form part of these consolidated
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-NF —E-=%
2024 2023
Bt 5 TER F& T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
TEEBER Loss for theyear | (107,146) (209,604)
KEEHEMEZEER Other comprehensive loss for
the year
ARAEEEDIEZ Bz A Items that may be reclassified
EH - subsequently to profit or loss:
—MEBINEBIMBEREKZ — Exchange differences on
N EH translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations (41,633) (29,952)
—HEWB AR AEBE X - Release of translation reserve
] upon disposal of a subsidiary ~ 30(c) - (1,784)
AEEZHEEBERLE Total comprehensive loss for
the year (148,779) (241,340)
THATEEREERZE Total comprehensive loss for
BRAEE: the year attributable to:
KARER A Owners of the Company (147,013) (232,507)
1% R = Non-controlling interests (1,766) (8,833)
(148,779) (241,340)

BENERTEZWMEBREETHREEF The notes on pages 72 to 167 form part of these consolidated
—#B1p - financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZTZMF+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2024

—E_ME —E-=
2024 2023
B 7 TR T T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FERBEE Non-current assets
(SRS Goodwill 16 - -
ME - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 17 89,230 131,610
FHEEE Right-of-use assets 18 69,685 82,519
BERIBEE Deferred tax assets 25(b) 6,554 7,273
165,469 221,402
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 20 259,457 203,068
JiE Uit B 3R Ko EL A FE Ui R Trade and other receivables 21 602,248 423,774
BRREBERES Prepayments and deposits 21 8,756 5,281
Al 4 = 7 18 Tax recoverable 25(a) 713 729
BHehBEEEEER Cash and cash equivalents 22 965,953 1,299,449
1,837,127 1,932,301
REBEE Current liabilities
JE 151 BR 3K Trade payables 23 68,147 74,792
JE 5t 3R 18 K H b FE 15T 3R Accruals and other payables 23 23,661 21,224
BNZEERE Amounts due to directors 24 12,333 10,097
HEARE Lease liabilities 26 434 391
FEAT B 18 Tax payable 25(a) 2,414 2,414
106,989 108,918
REBEEZE Net current assets 1,730,138 1,823,383
EELERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 1,895,607 2,044,785
*RBEE Non-current liabilities
HEBE Lease liabilities 26 230 629
EERE NET ASSETS 1,895,377 2,044,156
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZ-M&+=-H=+—H As at 31 December 2024
—E_ME —E-=F
2024 2023
Bt 5 FERx FHET
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BARHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27
& A< Share capital 234,170 234,170
1 Reserves 1,683,191 1,830,204
AR EBAELMER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 1,917,361 2,064,374
IR = Non-controlling interests (21,984) (20,218)
EREE TOTAL EQUITY 1,895,377 2,044,156
FSERIGTEZ A BRRCAEFTEN The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 167 were
E_HFE=ZRA=+—HE#ERKRERZE I approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31
HATALTHREZEE: March 2025, and are signed on its behalf by:
BRE BAE Jiang Quanlong Jiang Dawei
EZE EF Director Director
FNERTEZHMFEXNEEHBHREEHR The notes on pages 72 to 167 form part of these consolidated
— 5 o financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

ARARAARGER

Attributable to owners of the Company

k& BRHEE EARE AERE EXRE BRERFE RiEE Mt FERER hfE
Share Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory Translation option  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve  reserves reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total

Ter TRz TEn  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEn
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK§'000

A-%-zF-5-A
ZEEIEERY:
KEERR
H2EER

-BEBNEBET
RRCENZE

HEHBARGRRES
i (P 3E30)
REEREERLE

BREREERAAER
2 (HE28)

EREXR (M)
HENBARKBDELRE

R=2==£+ZA=t-A

R-B-mE-F-R
ZECREIRERY:
FEEER
Ht2EER

-REBNZBHT
RRCERZE

AEERAERAR
BREXR (W)

RZBZBE+ZA=1-H

ENEEGTAZHEBRGEEMBHERES

— & e

At 1 January 2023
Changes in equity for 2023:

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss
- Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations
Release of translation reserves
upon disposal of a subsidiary
(note 30)

Total comprehensive loss for
the year

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments
(note 28)

Lapse of share options (note 28)

Release of reserve upon disposal
of a subsidiary

At 31 December 2023

At 1 January 2024
Changes in equity for 2024:

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss

- Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive loss for
the year
Lapse of share options (note 28)

At 31 December 2024

BAT0 208306 2308 2353 15748 959 (2609 2287821 (11385 227643
- - - - - - (00545 Q00SHS) (9059 (209604
- - - - B - - B 26 (9952
- - - SR (b7 - S (b S
- - - - B - (00545 QRST) @83 (41340
- - - - - 9060 - 9060 - 9080
- - - - - ) 451 - - -
- - - 619 - -6 - - -
BAT0 208306 2348 2608 NS5 9568 (46598 2064304 (20218) 204456

234170 2,093,306 2,348 226058 225522 9,568  (746,598) 2,064,374  (20,218) 2,044,156

- - - - - - (104,924)  (104,924) (2,222)  (107,146)
- - - - (42,089 - - (42,089 456 (41,633)
= = = - (42,089 (104,924)  (147,013) (1,766) ~ (148,779)

- - - - - (9,568) 9,568 - - -

234170 2,093,306 2,348 226058 183,433 - (841,954) 1,917,361 (21,984) 1,895,377

The notes on pages 72 to 167 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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mORERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-NF —E-=%
2024 2023
=3 FERx T T
Note HK$000 HK$'000
REEE Operating activities
BB RIE B Loss before taxation (106,577) (210,165)
SAEIER Adjustments for:
B 7 B AR Finance costs 8(a) 42 309
B A Interest income 6 (2,007) (2,862)
ME - BMERKZEZITE  Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 8(c) 25,876 30,505
CRABEEZNE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 8(c) 3,298 3,393
HEWB AR 2= Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 30 - (5,719)
HEWE  BMEKLZMBZ  Netgain on disposal of property,
W s F 'R plant and equipment 7 (294) -
(B [E),/ 7R IE W R X Net impairment losses
Z BE (reversed)/recognised
BB FE on trade receivables 7 (4,168) 4,938
HE 3R HL fth JE Wk 2 RUE Net impairment losses recognised
BEFE on other receivables 7 201 4
TRAREEZREER Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets 18(iii) 7,952 =
mE BERZHEZ Impairment loss on property,
BB 18 plant and equipment 17(ii) 13,880 =
& & R Write-down of inventories 20(b) 14,485 65,320
EmEE AR D RER Equity-settled share-based
pANE payments 28 - 9,060
(47,312) (105,217)
EEESLEE Changes in working capital
FEEM Increase in inventories (75,872) (82,872)
JRE M5 BR SR K EL b & U 3R (Increase)/decrease in trade and
(), m other receivables (185,588) 8,483
BRRERZS (Increase)/decrease in prepayments
(), m > and deposits (3.620) 7,648
JE 5 BR X (Rt 4) /48 hn (Decrease)/increase in trade
payables (5,199) 11,224
JE 5T 5% 18 K £ FE - 5K Increase/(decrease) in accruals and
#m, Orl ) other payables 2,689 (11,446)
JE 1 B = R IE 12 AN Increase in amounts due
to directors 2,148 2,533
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mERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E_NEF -
2024 2023
B 5% FERT FHEIT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
KEFRANRES Cash used in operations (312,754) (169,647)
ENFTER Income tax paid 25(a) - (129)
HETEEFEANEESFEME  Netcash used in operating
activities (312,754) (169,776)
REED Investing activities
BEWE BERZE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment - (18)
HEWSE  BMEKLZHEZ  Proceed from disposal of property,

FT 15 %H plant and equipment 533 -
2 F 2 Interest received 2,007 2,862
HEMB AR ZHBRE  Proceed from disposal of a

subsidiary 30(d) - 32,761
REFEFREBH Net cash generated from
HEFE investing activities 2,540 35,605
MEED Financing activities
ENAEMRSE 2 BRI Capital element of lease rentals paid 34 (401) (371)
ENAEEMRES 2 EZM  Interest element of lease rentals
paid 34 (42) (61)
EENE S Interest paid 34 - (248)
METHFERANWHEESFEE  Netcash used in financing
activities (443) (680)
HeRkESESEEBERD Net decrease in cash and cash
EE equivalents (310,657) (134,851)
FYHRERALEHEER Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 1,299,449 1,452,386
ERggHoswE Effect of changes in exchange rate (22,839) (18,086)
EFRECREEEEER Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year 22 965,953 1,299,449

F728 21678 2 I 5 # KK &7

AWK HRKEAF The notes on pages 72 to 167 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are disclosed in the “Corporate
information” section of this annual report.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings”), which
was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings
does not produce financial statements available for public
use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products and refractory products, and investment
holding. There have been no changes in the principal
activities of the Group during the year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, while
the functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is
Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors of the Company consider
that presenting the consolidated financial statements in Hong
Kong dollars is preferable when controlling and monitoring
the performance and financial position of the Group and in
reporting to YY Holdings whose functional currency is also
Hong Kong dollars.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

b)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO"). These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. EREFHBEM@
b) HREMBHRREREE(H)
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

9]

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making judgements about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
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i © B 15 ¥R 2% B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Intra-Group balances, transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent

that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at
fair value or at the NClI's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the company. NCl in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between NCI and the equity shareholders of the

company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as

equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when

control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal

Group classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

e)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(g)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction-in-progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs (see note 2(s)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings held for own use 20 years
- Machinery and equipment 10 years
- Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant
and equipment under construction and pending
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)), if any. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of machinery and equipment and interest charges
arising from borrowings used to finance the acquisition
of these assets during the period of construction or
installation and testing. No provision for depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and are available for
their intended use. When the assets concerned are
ready for intended use, the costs are transferred to
other categories of property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated
above.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(g)(ii)).



2.

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EAEHBEM)
f) HEEEE
1EREBEA ()

MREESRERBERNAHE
AT BREOFEREE FREN G
BR BHERBREEDRIK &
SHEBHNGERATFENEMRS
DEINEENRAR - et AL
BEEKRANRN -

ERBUNEEYRRRBEN

THFAENNESBELE (L XA
REFFGAEERTAEMITE
BE THIRLEERMELS
i ABAEHGFERERE -
EHERENETAERFER
HERREAENREEEFLER
HAE AREAEEENEREEE
BMEET - BIFtAEH -

EHEEEARBELRAEERA
EANPRTHCEHEZER TE
REBNEESOAR  TAEN
AEMERGBE -EHBARAT  RE
RETHENFBEREERR R
BTERABERRETNRERY
HMERBETEHIE -

RiEEEFBRREKRST  RBEEE
BB SKEERER RS H
BEREARIBEENSHNRD
BiE -

2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in non-
equity securities carried at amortised cost. Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments
made and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the following
items:

= financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables); and

= contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
note 2(i)).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Generally, credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls between the contractual and
expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates if the effect is
material:

= fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

= variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.
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HEZ

T-MFE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

1)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 60 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

1)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
being more than 90 days past due;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by
the Group on terms that the Group would
not consider otherwise;

it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill,
an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

= goodwill;
= property, plant and equipment;
= right-of-use assets; and

= investments in subsidiaries in the
Company'’s statement of financial position.



2.

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEREHBEM@
9) FEERREERMEMH
i) HIERBEEZ N E(E)

WHREMZEFR BIME
FPEEZTTIREEER B
HEEMS EUKEHES
BEGMA(THALHIARME
BR) -

- HhOoO#HBEAGE

BE YWD ERETHE
DB R B B
REEMmEDZERRE -
EFBEREEE G
AERESREDNRE
BRRAERERREER
B MR EARE
MR 5 R 1T H RIR M B
REENINEERBRR
Zifh o MRXBEEZ
ReERMEBEARBLETHE
YREMEEZRER
E-RRABLIELR
EREBZHENEEAR
(REELBM)ETE
QEEE -

- REEBERER
HEESEMB RS
EEB 2 REERSB
Horlme s BIRiE
HERMEEE AR
CELEBUERZRE
BEmE EEERIE
BIEPEERETEL
BRU(XBASELEEM
ARz EMEEZER
HE ERRLOIEE
RERIAESELEEM
(XREELEMAR)
NEMEEZKREE:
HEEZEEER TS
B AR R EAE B A F
BRI EMA (IRt &)
HfEAEE(HREFTE) -

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

fi)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication
of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) on
a pro-rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

i) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised. The
amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms
set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2(j)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(q)(ii))-
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2. EXRBEE®E 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
i) FE Ut BR R K EL A FE U R j)  Trade and other receivables
JRE M5 TR PN 55 B A A6 14 4 N L EX A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
KRERKEERERE#ERZEN SR unconditional right to receive consideration and only
TR the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

I 8 & K g & A KR D B TS 1R IR Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
REVNBEZERSBRITE - 825 financing component are initially measured at their
BARLE 4 R ED D R 3 7% P R IE transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
FEMEWRIEIREAFEMNR significant financing component and other receivables
SR E - FTARKRIE ZR are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
95 K AR 51 BR (BB 3 2(g)(0)) © costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at

amortised cost (see note 2(g)(i)).

k) FEEX k)  Interest-bearing borrowings
HAEERVITEDFERR S KA Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
BR-HEE ZSEREBHEKAN fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
FRERMEZETNE - FERAXZE borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
BASEABEBER AN Z G BR effective interest method. Interest expense is
(RPTFE2() R © recognised in accordance with the Group's accounting

policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(s)).

) EFRRREMESRK I)  Trade and other payables
R EMEMRPIEDTF Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
BERER HEEREHEKAYEE B value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
FMBZEENTELR RILEBER unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
Rl B AR B BR e in which case they are stated at cost.
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g)(i).

Employee benefits
) Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as
the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n)

Employee benefits (Continued)

ii)

Defined contribution retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all eligible employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
salaries, allowances and other benefits and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme, except for the Group's employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to
the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of companies in the PRC
participate in the basic pension plan set up and
administered by local authorities of Ministry of
Human Resource and Social Security. Monthly
payments of premiums on the basic pensions are
calculated according to prescribed bases and
percentage by the relevant local authorities.
When employees retire, the relevant local
authorities are obliged to pay the basic pensions
to them. The amounts based on the above
calculations are recognised as liabilities in the
accounting period in which the service has been
rendered by the employees, with a corresponding
charge to the income statement for the current
period or the cost of relevant assets.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
n)  Employee benefits (Continued)

iii) ~ Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payments granted to employees is
measured using the Hull-white model. The
amount is generally recognised as an expense,
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the number of awards for which the related
service conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised is based
on the number of awards that meet the related

service conditions at the vesting date.

iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group

recognises costs for a restructuring.

0) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or

items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in
respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising

from dividends.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

= temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

= temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

= taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0)

p)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group's assets under leases
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis, including the sale of electronic products
that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains control of
the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group's ability
to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer
takes possession of and accepts the
products. Payment terms and conditions
vary by customers and are based on the
billing schedule established in the
contracts or purchase orders with
customers, but the Group generally
provides credit terms to customers up to 1
year upon customer acceptance. The
Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing
component as the period of financing is 12
months or less. For sales contracts that
had an original expected duration of one
year or less, the Group has not disclosed
the information related to the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15.

(i) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit
impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired
subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation
of interest income reverts to the gross
basis.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in
OCl:

= an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOC;

= a financial liability designated as a hedge of the
net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective; and

= qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that
the hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income
and expenses of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions.
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r

s)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the
extent that the translation difference is allocated to
NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety
or partially such that control, significant influence or
joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the
exchange reserve related to that foreign operation is
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
that have been attributed to the NCI shall be
derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to profit or
loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a
subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to
NCI. When the Group disposes of only part of an
associate or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
t) Related parties

(a

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i)

iii)

vi)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

A person identified in note 2(t)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.
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2.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1)

u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group's chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand

Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a)

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies which are described in note 2, management
has made certain key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, as discussed below.

i) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the actual useful lives of assets of
similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of significant technical
innovations and competitor actions in response
to industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charges where useful lives are less
than previously estimated, or will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and

equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of an item of the property, plant and equipment
may not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss
may be recognised in profit or loss in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for
impairment of property, plant and equipment as
described in note 2(g)(ii). The carrying amounts
of assets are reviewed periodically in order to
assess whether the recoverable amounts have
declined below the carrying amounts. These
assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. When such a decline has occurred,
the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and the value in use.
In determining the value in use, expected future
cash flows generated by the asset are discounted
to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of the level of revenue and amount
of operating costs. Changes in these estimates
could have a significant impact on the carrying
value of the assets and could result in additional
impairment loss or reversal of impairment in
future periods. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is approximately HK$89,230,000
(2023: HK$131,610,000). Details of the
impairment of property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in note 17(iii).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

fii)

iv)

Estimation of impairment of right-of-use assets

The Group performs annual assessments on
whether there has been impairment of these
assets in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy stated in note 2(g)(ii). The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units are determined
based on value in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates and
assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates,
and other assumptions underlying the value in
use calculations. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets is
approximately HK$69,685,000 (2023:
HK$82,519,000). Details of the impairment of
right-of-use assets are disclosed in note 18(iii).

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates the impairment loss
allowances for trade receivables by assessing the
ECLs. This requires the use of estimates and
judgements. ECLs are based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of the
reporting period. Where the estimation is
different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amount of
trade receivables and thus the impairment loss in
the period in which such estimate is changed.
The Group keeps assessing the expected credit
loss of trade receivables during their expected
lives. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is approximately
HK$585,672,000 (2023: HK$418,613,000).
Details of the impairment of trade receivables are
disclosed in notes 21 and 33(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. BREFVERGEFTRENZE
ERR (&)

a) MHTAREMZETERR(E)

v FGFEZAZEHFE
TFEDRKABRTEEFE
ZBARE AR o Al 235 % B
BIRBEAEEBRRERZMH
STEE R ERK AR
ETHEMT 2tk A
Tz EMmst2BEBAM
ARBEENMEEREERZ
BAELEHRMEL - ARFES
TERBEROHZEZER
RBERMAGBATEEZAE
BEE HE_ZT_HNF+=
A=+—HLFE ARFAE
ERZEEREEYTESR
AESRS YHATEED
14,485,000 L (ZE = =45 :
65,320,000 7T ) °

by HEERAKEEHBRBMEZE
-l
EEEETEERBBEZREER -
AEBERTRENAKEHE SR
EHRBEERABZHEFRERR -
BRGHIRHASRER AR
REIBR - AKERBEBELR
RERKEMF 2B EL G ER
RoAXEHRT c RERREMZ
RFERMGEN AEEEER S
B SR B IR AR -
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
V) Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated cost of completion and the estimated
cost necessary to make the sale. These estimates
are based on the current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of similar nature. The directors
of the Company estimate the net realisable value
for inventories based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
directors of the Company performed periodic
review on a product-by-product basis and made
a write-down of its inventories of approximately
HK$14,485,000 (2023: HK$65,320,000).

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets
and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets and
liabilities at the end of each reporting period. These
estimates involve assumptions about such items as cash
flows and discount rates used. The Group's estimates
and assumptions are based on historical experience
and expectations of future events and are reviewed
periodically. In addition to assumptions and estimations
of future events, judgements are also made during the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

4. BREFVERGEFTRENZE

E R (&)

by HERAKEEEHBRRBMEZE
K& E B (&)
) HEHRETHE

i)

AEBEETBAMNAEHR -
MERBE BN TRBE-
REETHRARBE AFELE
RHE - R—REBBRES
FERZXHNFE  EHK
REBEEEETEEMY -
AEERBHREEMME
SMRBE At BB =
HERAB - MLAEFEZ
REMBERBRLHZ
SREMTR  ERAZERY
EELFHETHRAIHAE
BEEEHR BB -

ERETER=ZE 2ETH
BEE DREEERAEBE
A BB Al B) A JE R B Om A K
HERZERHEBRZE
MTATFUER - WxEE
HAERMNRRRG 25 =
BT ET G E R E T
HEMERAZECERBEEE
EBESH BRUEmME A&
BER—_ZE_WFE+_A=1+—
ERAELCRBEBEEY
6,554,000 L (Z T = = :
7,273,000/ 7C) °

7R BATEE Z B

ARETREIR MR E &
RMAHEE TS EHE TH
BARDERMAREELNE
A (IR 15 48 B8 A 750K B I AR
ERBK) AEBERAB - W&
EMBARRNA R R RKS
rg N RERN  MBARE
MRS R RS -

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

i)

ii)

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional tax will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where
the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and tax charge
in the periods in which such estimate is changed.
In this regard, the Group recognised deferred tax
assets of approximately HK$6,554,000 (2023:
HK$7,273,000) as at 31 December 2024.

Withholding tax arising from distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to
accrue for withholding tax arising from
distribution of dividends from certain subsidiaries
according to the relevant tax law and regulations
is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of dividends. The Group considers that
if the profits of these subsidiaries will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future, then no
withholding tax should be provided.
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. WA 5. REVENUE
WAEERETFTEFZERHEEBECTE Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
FEEHREMBEESHIE) - WK EM customers which excludes value-added and other sales taxes,
RERESIM - and is after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.
REAHNEPZBWARESHEER - Revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at
REAHNBEPZRAZHMMT : point in time and the disaggregation of revenue from

contracts with customers are as follows:

Lo iy X 5 8 @t
Rare Earth Segment Refractory Segment Total
ZBo@E —T-=F ZBINF —T-=F ZB-@WE _T-=%
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

TR TAT TERT TAT TR TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TEERER Types of major products

HERLTEM Sales of rare earth products

= ~ Rare earth oxides 645,370 469,423 - - 645,370 469,423
HEMAER Sales of refractory products

— i kAR — Refractory materials - - 111,287 167,237 111,287 167,237
—#y - Magnesium grains - = - 49,413 - 49,413
et Sub-total - - 111,287 216,650 111,287 216,650
Bar Total 645,370 469,423 111,287 216,650 756,657 686,073
it B 3% Geographical markets

i The PRC 639,278 461,023 110,104 168,447 749,382 629,470
=K Japan 6,092 8,400 1,055 34,617 7,147 43,017
BN Europe - = - 1,083 - 1,083
Hit Others - - 128 12,503 128 12,503
Bar Total 645,370 469,423 111,287 216,650 756,657 686,073
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WA (&)

ERAEEBRNREZES
HERMLIEMAERZBEHNRERNE &
RNEEFZRIMEFEMNE R RFT
EREREz AR RDORZEEEERTT
HEEIZRFEREITBEUEEAR
HEFRA—®EBNZREB - GEH K
NEXFE0F180F - MEEERIFZEP
Al 5 %365H °

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

REVENUE (Continued)
Information about the Group’s performance obligation

The performance obligation for sales of rare earth and
refractory products is satisfied upon delivery of the goods at
the customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in
time when the customers have accepted the goods and the
related risks and rewards of ownership. The trading terms
with customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.
The credit period is generally ranged from 0 to 180 days and
up to 365 days for reputable customers upon delivery.

H g A OTHER INCOME
11 -3 —EZ=F
2024 2023
THEx T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
RAITTF KA B WA Interest income from bank deposits 2,007 2,862

Hite s (BB FE OTHER NET GAIN/(LOSS)
—E-mME —E-=F
2024 2023
THER FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BN (&8s FE Net exchange (loss)/gain (1,552) 611
BE /(R TIEEZ Net impairment losses
BB B 18 F AR reversed/(recognised) on:
— & W BR 3K - trade receivables 4,168 (4,938)
— H b /& IR — other receivables (201) ()
HEWME BERZRHEZ Net gain on disposal of property,
W as # R plant and equipment 294 -
Hith Others - (6,933)
2,709 (11,264)
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. KRBAIEE 8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BBl B IR E HBR T 5 %18 Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:
—E-NEF —EZ=%F
2024 2023
TER F&T
HK$'000 HK$'000
a) BTE A a) Finance costs
MR ERZF B Interest on discounted bills - 248
HEBEZHE Interest on lease liabilities 42 61
42 309
b) BT R4 (BIFEHMZE10 b) Staff costs (including directors’
FBz2EEMSE)* remuneration in note 10)*
FEehIE Salaries and wages 17,465 30,179
BaEEURNDRERZ Equity-settled share-based
5% 7 2 (BT 5%28) payment expenses (note 28) - 3,474
R K& F 5T 84 5 Retirement benefits scheme
(B 5E12) contributions (note 12) 1,853 2,333
19,318 35,986
c H#EH ¢) Other items
1% BN B Auditor’s remuneration
— B R - audit services 2,000 2,000
— H fth Az %5 - other services 300 300
2,300 2,300
5 & X AN (P 5E20(b)) # Cost of inventories (note 20(b))* 809,646 837,388
ME BERZKEBZINE" Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment? 25,876 30,505
FRAEEECE? Depreciation of right-of-use assets? 3,298 3,393
# HE_Z-_NFE+-_A=t+—HIFER - # During the year ended 31 December 2024, cost of inventories
FERADEEBEIRA X K included approximately HK$34,983,000 (2023:
ELREHEAREREEENEN HK$47,660,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation of
34,983,000/ 7T (=& = =4 : 47,660,000 property, plant and equipment and depreciation of right-of-
BIL) BERENERSERERFTA use assets which amounts were also included in the respective
EXBUBBEZBENA - total amounts disclosed separately above for each of these

types of expenses.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss represents:

i 2 —E=%
2024 2023
FERT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KHYHBEB-hBELEFEH  Current tax — PRC Enterprise
Income Tax
NG T R (P 35 25(a)) Provision for the year (note 25(a)) - -
RS 1| Deferred taxation
TR ERE 2EERBEE  Origination and reversal of
(P 3£ 25(b)) temporary differences (note 25(b)) (569) 561
(i) e Income tax (charge)/credit (569) 561

ARAREMBAR DR NS E
EREBRRBESEMAYL  RE
REFEAMKRLIBERZH KK

T BASNEMMAEH -

HRBE-_T-_NER-_T_=F
TZA=T - BLEEEREBEBEL
ZIMETEE B AW AE 2 25
EEEMEHE BT ERZFEE

ZERBMEHAREME -

HE_T-_WER-_F-_=F+=
A=+—BLEEER ' FEDEFA
ESDEY 8 F VNG N A vl |
B R A 2 Ml 5 FE RT B R B IR X TE B

SR E25% T & °

countries of incorporation.

brought forward.

2023.
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The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands,
respectively, are not subject to any income tax pursuant
to the rules and regulations of their respective

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for
the year were offset with the accumulated tax losses

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the statutory
income tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

9. RMABRRAZFBH M@ 9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
a) (#&) a)  (Continued)
RECEMSHEZNTEEE-ZEZ The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
NE—F—BEFPENFB AR RE withholding tax of 5% or 10% upon distribution of
BINEEEB)RESIKR S MEA profits by the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to
125% 3 10% 5 R @ i FE N FL o its overseas (including Hong Kong) shareholders.
b) ERSYHESHEE 2 HiRER b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and
WEHE 7 HWENT : accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:
—E-|mEF —E-=F
2024 2023
TET T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
b %1 A1 /&5 18 Loss before taxation (106,577) (210,165)

BB A B B IR & B RE Notional tax on loss before taxation,

EREREEMEINE calculated at statutory tax rates
ZBEME applicable to the respective tax
jurisdictions concerned (27,375) (51,989)
AN B2 BB E Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,645 19,677
BERBMBMA 2B B & Tax effect of non-taxable income (1) (1,624)
AERMEBE MG TE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 17,445 32,120
AERERHEZE2MIEFE  Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised 9,003 1,384
AL AR EEIE 2  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
MR E previously not recognised (148) (129)
P8t (E k) Income tax charge/(credit) 569 (561)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

EEME

BB ARG 383N R AR (K EE
EHFZERROE2BHEENESTIE
NS

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

of the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as

follows:
ZE-NE
2024
428 RHRBEHN  URKBA
EZne RENEAN BERL HELR EBRZAR @t
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share-
Directors’ and benefit- Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus contributions  payments Total
TET TET TR TEx TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTES Executive directors
BErELL (M@  Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 384 - - - 384
EReE%E(MEG)  Mr Jiang Quanlong (note (ii)) - 1,320 - - - 1,320
BAELAEEG)) M Jiang Dawei (note (i) - 201 - 10 - 21
BrExE (@) M liang Cainan (note (iv) - 305 - - - 305
__________ - 220 -0 - 220
FHITEE Non-executive director
2 () Ms. Huang Liu (note () - - - - - - -
BUFBTES Independent non-executive
directors
HEELA Mr. Huang Chunhua 72 - - - - 72
A () Mr. Jin Zhong (note (vi)) 42 - - - - 4
B LS5 A (B EE (i) Mr. Huang Shuwei (note (vii)) 32 - - - - 32
________ 1 _4_6___"______-___"_"___—___"______—___"_"___-___"_"_1_4_6_
it Total 146 2,210 - 10 - 2,366
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BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

—E_=F
2023
¢ 28 RAEH  URGA
ESHe REVEHN BEREL  FHESR EREIER B
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share-
Directors' and benefit- Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus contributions  payments Total
AT AT TAT TR AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HTES Executive directors
BETEL (MG Ms. Qian Yuanying (note (i) - 1,099 - - - 1,099
¥R %4 (MEEG)  Mr Jiang Quanlong (note (ii)) - 1,430 - - - 1,430
BARREE (M)  Mr Jiang Dawei (note (iii)) - 211 - 9 - 220
BABEEM W) Mr Jiang Cainan (note (iv)) - 302 - - - 302
- 3,042 = 9 = 3,051
BUFHTEES Independent non-executive
directors
HEEERE Mr. Huang Chunhua 72 - - - _ 7
& B LA (B i) Mr. Jin Zhong (note (vi)) 40 - - - - 40
BEER %4 (M EWii)  Mr. Dou Xuehong (note (viii)) 67 - - - - 67
179 - - = = 179
b Total 179 3,042 = 9 - 3,230
B &E - Notes
(i) BITRZTR_T_NER A +EABE - (i) Ms. Qian Yuanying resigned on 17 May 2024.
(i) BREAXAENARARZEBREIRE- (i) Mr. Jiang Quanlong is also the Acting Chairman of the
Company.
(i) BREEENABEARARZITHER - (i) Mr. Jiand Dawei is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.
(ivy BAmAER-_Z-_AF—A+=HERE- (iv)  Mr. Jiang Cainan retired on 13 January 2025.
vy BIZTR-_ZE-_OF+=-_A+NBE (vy  Ms. Huang Li appointed on 18 December 2024.
EE o
(vi)y &®EXER-_ZT-_RAF—A+=BRME- (vi)  Mr. Jin Zhong retired on 13 January 2025.
(i) BBREER_T-_RAF—A+EHEE - (vii)  Mr. Huang Shuwei resigned on 17 January 2025.
(i) BEREXER-_T_=%+=-A=+H (viii)  Mr. Dou Xuehong passed away on 30 December 2023.

BELE o
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10.

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director has waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

BEEHFAIREREEAEMS 11.  INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
a) IEEREHFAL a) Five highest paid individuals
HE-_Z_mME+-_A=+—81t During the year ended 31 December 2024, out of the
FE - AEBRGESHEALH five highest paid individuals in the Group, two (2023:
HEARG(ZEZ=F - WB)ABLD two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments
FEE - HMEANMFI0HE - & are disclosed in note 10. The aggregate emoluments in
B="FZ(CEZ=F =Z)RaHFA respect of the remaining three (2023: three) highest
trMELENT : paid individuals are as follows:
ZE-NEF —T-=F
2024 2023
TR FHT
HK$000 HK$'000
HekEMME Salaries and other emoluments 1,290 1,261
(SRR Discretionary bonus - -
RN TR 5T & L3R Retirement benefits scheme
contributions 36 110
EREEARNDAERZ Equity-settled share-based payment
AL expenses - 2,290
1,326 3,661

HR=Z(ZE=F Z8)KaH
ALTZHMENFRTIIEE :

The emoluments of the remaining three (2023: three)
highest paid individuals are within the following band:

—E-NE i
2024 2023
A A
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
Eli Bands:
Z — 1,000,000/ 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 3 =
1,000,001 7£ —1,500,000/ 7t HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 - 3
3 B
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

1. REHFAIEEREEAEME (&) 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

a) HEBEHEAL(E) a)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
BE_ T -_NER-_T-_=F+— No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
BA=+—HBItEE AEEBWXEM the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join
AAL &S EH AT S5k A (] B or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
& EBEBEMASZRANAKRE of office during the years ended 31 December 2024
T By O R M S BE R R 0 o and 2023.

b) SHEEASHS b)  Senior management’s emoluments
ENENTERERAS (B The emoluments paid or payable to senior
EE)BELIXABEZ— K (=E management, excluding the directors, (including one
T=E WMRBEREEEADZHE (2023: two) highest paid individuals as disclosed above)
NFERT 5 & E : are within the following bands:

—E-OE —E=F
2024 2023
AE A B
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
gE: Bands:
£ —1,000,0007% 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 3 4
1,000,001/ 7t —1,500,0007% 7£ HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 - 2
3 6
BE-_EZ-_=F+=-_A=+—H1 During the year ended 31 December 2023, three (2024:
EE ZZ(CE-—_NE:B)gHE Nil) individual of senior management resigned.

BABBIE -

114 Annual Report 2024 4



12.

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEERKEF

M E AR RIEGORE  AAER
FEKZIZHEBEARIEAEZEESR
BREEAFENETEAOLZEHER
BERAGE (—EATEFERSED) -
BRERAKEMEEEZBABREHRIAK
AEBEEYN ZENBARKEFH®
RN BASNERENRE  THESR
EREMERERF - BHE-ZT-_NMF
+TZA =+ —BLEFE BRI HK
% 4 51,826,000 (= T = = F:
2,211,000 7T) o st Bl KB SEB -

AEBE-_ZTZTTF+-_F—HEBELH
BEIMERABEESTE([BESE]) - Z
EARERARAREFTE - AEEF
RREEEEARFESHETED LA Z TS
HR-HEZFT-_MNF+_A=+—HIE
FE - AEEMARBES 2 H50427,000
BL(ZT =4 :122,0008 ) BiES
MEERASENEESRIBA 1 H
BUBEHSKCEEE - Zar 2l A
KEFE o

BHE-_Z-_NMFER-_ZT-_=F+_-FH
=T HIEFE FEERTFEZRIKE
FFERREBZRESEE T E
BIRE R RERLBRAES MR
Bl Fff $%162526(2) Bk AT il 38 B i FKFE ©

12.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
required to participate in a state-sponsored retirement plan,
which is a defined contribution pension scheme, for all of
their employees based on certain percentages of the
employees’ basic salaries. The state-sponsored retirement
plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to retired employees and these subsidiaries have no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or other post-
retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the retirement plan
contribution amounted to approximately HK$1,826,000
(2023: HK$2,211,000). Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group has participated in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
pension scheme, since 1 December 2000. The Group makes
monthly contribution to the scheme based on certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group's contributions to the
MPF Scheme were approximately HK$27,000 (2023:
HK$122,000). The assets of the fund are held separately from
the Group and are managed by independent professional
fund managers. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong which may be used to reduce the existing level of
contributions as described in paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 16
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

13. BE 13.

ARREEZTERRNBE_T_MF
ToA=+T—RUEFEZRE(ZT_=%:
&) -

14. BRESE 14.

BREXER
ARARFEBEAZERERBRIIRET
SIS

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share to owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

—E-OF —E-=%
2024 2023
FERT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEEREARNEE ZARF Loss for the year attributable to owners
BEANEBERFEER of the Company for the purpose of
calculating basic loss per share 104,924 200,545
gk 4=
Number of shares
—E-omE —E-=F
2024 2023
T’ F &
‘000 ‘000
AESREANEBEZ Weighted average number of ordinary
i % 10 o0 #E FE 2 shares for the purpose of calculating
basic loss per share 2,341,700 2,341,700

BERBEER
HREE-_T-_NWFER-_ZT-_=F+—A8
=+ —BLIEFETERDE FARITEER
BEEREEZE BAUEBREBEE
HEREAEEER -
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Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share as
the exercise of the Company's outstanding share options
would have anti-dilutive effect during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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At D BRIR KL D EBE D EER
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ZEE BEREBE:

NHMEEBRMBANRETLEE
ERBEE EFRRELERESR
E -AREHRE ROERERR
EEERBURARDEEER 28
DMZEMEEEE - »HMEEE
EREMNRERRDESEREN
WA AR -

15.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8
"Operating segments”, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's
chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments:

Rare earth: Manufacture and sales of rare earth products
Refractory:  Manufacture and sales of refractory products

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group's CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets, and current assets with the exception of
deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, unallocated cash
and cash equivalents, and other corporate assets which
are unallocated to an individual reportable segment.
Segment liabilities include all liabilities with the
exception of tax payable and unallocated corporate
liabilities.
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BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. 2 EMHE (&)

a) ABEE EEREEE
WARRZVE2EZLHRH 2 8
CHEEHEXARESBRIEEEY
FERBHASIBZHL 2RE

S e - aNEyi
ZEDE -

2HH RN, (BE)FERZE
EFEBIEAZEMNGRAE - FE
rE R B E A s FI([EAR
EBITDA]) ° & 5T & £ 38 Z EBITDA -
AEE 2z M (B1E) S5k
EEBNZHRD HEMGEZBEE ELE
—SHEE WEZHNS - % EA B
e BaRAEUARMBEEMZNAR
Y REMAIBEEERSE

KRESEBAKFAZEBITDAZ 5 EE
BN REEEREERKEANE
REEHAKABEI BHEIEE)
e #if BAOPEEEEZR
THEBEREEZMNEBRARRE -
WEEE HEME BELEKE
2k /(B 1B) R o I & & H AT
FRZERBDHBEERE 259 =B
BEH o D HEBELERRAEE
WERINBE = F ZBI&EIE -
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15.

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
"adjusted profit before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation” (“Adjusted EBITDA"). To arrive at the
Adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s profit/(loss) further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to an
individual reportable segment, such as directors’
emoluments, auditor’ s remuneration, equity-settled
share-based payment expenses and other unallocated
corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning the Adjusted EBITDA, the Group's CODM is
provided with segment information concerning revenue
(including inter-segment sales), depreciation,
amortisation, interest income and expenses from bank
balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, impairment losses, gain/(loss) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment and additions to non-
current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for
similar orders.



15. D E{E (4#)

HEZ

= /A g
=Y

E R E I
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

T-MFE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

a) IHEE BERERG(HE) a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
¢ N RREFAEBEGHELER Information regarding the Group's reportable segments
RABEIRERRTHH IAKRIR as provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of
ZAEBERDFBERFHINMT resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the year is as follows:
ft fit X @it
Rare earth Refractory Total
ZB-mE -F-=E  ZBoNME  -E-=F  ZB-omME —FoZE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Thx ThL TEn TEL TEn TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REHNEP A Revenue from external customers 645,370 469,423 111,287 216,650 756,657 686,073
AHERA Inter-segment revenue - - - - - -
EFPHRA Reportable segment revenue 645,370 469,423 111,287 216,650 756,657 686,073
SHHB(EE)/EH  Reportable segment (loss)/profit
(48 52 EBITDA) (Adjusted EBITDA) (26,972) (162,363) (43,455) 2,209 (70,427) (160,154)
MEKA Interest income 213 44 1,793 2,419 2,006 2,861
B AR A Finance costs - = - (248) - (248)
W% BERZEZTE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment (11,849) (15,210) (13,978) (15,223) (25,827) (30,433)
FREAENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (1,593) (1,622) (1,329) (1,403) (2,922) (3,025)
FREAEZHEBE  Imparment loss on right-of-use
assets - - 7,952 - 7,952 -
nE BEREREL Impairment loss on property plant
REBR and equipment - = 13,880 = 13,880 -
(%32)/BETHEEZ  Netimpairment loss (recognised)/
REBEFE: reversed on:
—~ERER - trade receivables 487 (5,467) 3,681 529 4,168 (4,938)
- Hi R MR - other receivables (124) 66 (1) (70) (201) (4)
FEMA Write-down of inventories (14,485) (65,320) - - (14,485) (65,320)
HMENE  BERREZ  Netgain on disposal of
W38 property, plant and equipment 294 - - - 294 -
HEWBAR Z MW Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - = - 5719 - 5719
EX DR - Reportable segment assets 1,027,451 816,823 1,067,748 1,707,882 2,095,199 2,524,705
REERD Additions to non-current
PHEE: segment assets:
Mm% BEREE ~ Property, plant and equipment - - - 8 - 8
2RAPEE Reportable segment liabilities 111,620 390,126 70,154 78,678 181,774 468,804
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. 2 %8| & (40 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
by EJRIBUA - BRSEE: - BEE b)  Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
FEBZHE profit or loss, assets and liabilities
—E_ME —E-=%F
2024 2023
TER T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
WA Revenue
2D HBAA Reportable segment revenue 756,657 686,073
38 9 B A Elimination of inter-segment revenue - =
mE WA Consolidated revenue 756,657 686,073
s F R 18 Profit or loss
EH D EEE Reportable segment loss (70,427) (160,154)
55 2 20 8 s F 3 &5 48 Elimination of inter-segment
profit or loss - =
REAEBHIINERZ Reportable segment loss derived from
ERHEBERE Group's external customers (70,427) (160,154)
A B WA Interest income 2,007 2,862
ME- - BERZEZTE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (25,876) (30,505)
CRAEEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,298) (3,393)
EREEARNDABER 2 Equity-settled share-based payment
e E expenses - (9,060)
B 7% BX AR Finance costs (42) (309)
ROMEERSL Unallocated corporate expenses (8,941) (9,606)
RAEBRBAEE Consolidated loss before taxation (106,577) (210,165)
T3 (Z i) K% Income tax (charge)/credit (569) 561
mekBEEBERE Consolidated loss after taxation (107,146) (209,604)
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

ERAIBUA - BAREE - BEE b)  Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
LEBZHEE) profit or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
—E-@mEF —E=F
2024 2023
FTEx T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
ERHOAEE Reportable segment assets 2,095,199 2,524,705
1l $5 > 26 i FE U 51 Elimination of inter-segment receivables (100,884) (381,130)
1,994,315 2,143,575
ANEBEEKEELZEMEEE Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 331 932
ROBECEEE Unallocated corporate assets 683 1,194
REMIBE E Deferred tax assets 6,554 7,273
a] 4y Bl 7% 18 Tax recoverable 713 729
HEEE®RE Consolidated total assets 2,002,596 2,153,703
afE Liabilities
ERDOBARE Reportable segment liabilities 181,774 468,804
88 5> 2B S FE A R Elimination of inter-segment payables (100,884) (381,130)
80,890 87,674
KoM E¥*EE Unallocated corporate liabilities 23,915 19,459
& 718 Tax payable 2,414 2,414
mEREBE Consolidated total liabilities 107,219 109,547
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. 2 MW/ = (&) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
o HEEH ¢)  Geographical information
) KEHIEFZKA i) Revenue from external customers
TREVNEBAEBE KRG S The following table sets out information about
INEE W AFTE R/ E the geographical location of the Group's revenue
Ko ZEMEMEBIRS SN from external customers. The geographical
B EE D o location of customers is based on the location at
which the goods were delivered.
—E-WmEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
FTHERT TFE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
B (RE AT 3t 3D The PRC (place of domicile) 749,382 629,470
=N Japan 7,147 43,017
! Europe - 1,083
H Al Others 128 12,503
7,275 56,603
756,657 686,073
iy BEIERBEE i) Specified non-current assets

AEBIBERRDEE
BREDE BERXE &
REEENBE -

RERERRDEEZHLE
UEDNREBNEERRAAE
wHEME BERRER
ERABEEMS) : &) D
e EmE (BiAaEm

B F
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The Group’'s specified non-current assets
comprise property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and goodwill.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on (i) the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets and
(i) the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of goodwill.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

) Geographical information (Continued)

i) Specified non-current assets (Continued)

The geographical locations of these specified

BN : non-current assets are set out below:
el —E-=%F
2024 2023
FEx FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R B (o i b ) The PRC (place of domicile) 158,308 213,142
BB Hong Kong 607 987
158,915 214,129

d FHEXEEFZESR

MASEBKRA10%HIA £ 2 RE
EREIEP WA

d) Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers individually
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue

is as follows:

it fif X &t

Rare earth Refractory Total
ZB-ME  -SC=F ZBCME “T-=F ZEC@E CZCocE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
TEn THETL TR THL TR THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EPA Customer A 178,034 213,636 - - 178,034 213,636
xFB Customer B 192,751 134,101 - = 192,751 134,101
REC Customer C 136,086 = - = 136,086 =
ZFD Customer D 98,725 - - - 98,725 -
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BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

16. BHE 16. GOODWILL
FAT
HK$'000
S Cost
R—_ZE-_=F—HF—H At 1 January 2023 210,090
& BB A 7] 18 BUH 7 72 Derecognised upon disposal of a subsidiary (72,280)
EHER Exchange differences (1,270)
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8H" At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
—E_MFE—A—AK and 31 December 2024
—Z-_MNE+=-_A=+—8H 136,540
2 RE Accumulated impairment
R—FE-_—_F+-_A=+—-H8EK At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—E-_=%—H—H 210,090
& BT 8 A 7] 18 BUH 7 3R Derecognised upon disposal of a subsidiary (72,280)
EHER Exchange differences (1,270)
RZZEZ=F+-A=+—8" At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
—EWMFE—A—AK and 31 December 2024
—E-NE+ZA=+—H 136,540
IR & Carrying amount
RZZEZNE R At 31 December 2024 and 2023
—EZ=Ft+=ZA=+—H -
WETHHNB AR ZE BREREE 2 The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests
HMEEWREKABENEBRNEHH in the following subsidiaries represented the excess of the
B EEEREBEZ A FEEZ cost of acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair value
2 A of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date

of acquisition:
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

[EEAC ) 16. GOODWILL (Continued)

il PNCIER ke 48 B 2 P TEXRE

Name of subsidiary Date of acquisition Segment Principal activities

ESHESRBERTRAA —TEMEF it A5 &6 SERHESEBEER
(I=2BE]) —A=t+AhH

Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature

Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“High
Temperature Ceramics”)

bkBERAMEZBRERELZHEEN

WEFE2BURIE -

29 January 2004

Refractory segment

Manufacturing and sales of high
temperature ceramics products

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests
in High Temperature Ceramics has been fully impaired in
previous years.

ME - BERZXE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
313 BAERME
HRET HBERRE REE "E aE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and equipment Motor
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
THL THL FHL THL THEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A Cost
R-Z-=%—-f—H At 1 January 2023 238,127 666,716 2,962 7,272 915,077
NE Additions = = 18 = 18
e Disposal = (45,899) (12) - (45,913)
HENBARGERH Derecognised upon disposal (20,544) (37,795) (284) (1,974) (60,597)
E of a subsidiary
ERER Exchange differences (3,454) (9,283) (38) (110) (12,885)
WZB-=F At 31 December 2023 and
TZA=+-HEK 1 January 2024
ZE-NE-R-H 214,129 573,739 2,644 5,188 795,700
HE Disposal - - - (327) (327)
EREE Exchange differences (4,578) (12,268) (49) (108) (17,003)
RZZE_ME At 31 December 2024
+=A=t+-H 209,551 561,471 2,595 4,753 778,370
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

17. ¥ BERZE®@E 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
B BAERE
BREF HERRE R%EE RE aE
Buildings Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
TET TATL TAL TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R RERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
N—E-=%—H—-H At 1 January 2023 217,851 523,676 2,809 6,468 750,804
REEHR Charge for the year 3,484 26,800 85 136 30,505
HER 88 Eliminated on disposal - (45,899) (14) - (45,913)
HEMRBARRIUE Derecognised upon disposal
R of a subsidiary (20,530) (37,781) (280) (1,952) (60,543)
EREE Exchange differences (3,189) (7,437) (37) (100) (10,763)
RZZZ=F At 31 December 2023
TZA=+-HEK and 1 January 2024
“Z-WE-R—A 197,616 459,359 2,563 4,552 664,090
RERR Charge for the year 3,108 2,612 55 4 25,876
ERAREEE Impairment loss recognised 2,064 11,816 - - 13,880
o B 4 4 Eliminated on disposal - - - (88) (88)
ERZzZE Exchange differences (4,281) (10,191) (49) 97) (14,618)
RZE_ME At 31 December 2024
+-RA=t-8 198,507 483,656 2,569 4,408 689,140
REE Carrying amount
RZEZRmE At 31 December 2024
TZA=1+-H 11,044 77,815 26 345 89,230
RZZE-=fF At 31 December 2023
“A=t-H1 16,513 114,380 81 636 131,610
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17.

HEZ

T-MFE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the buildings held for own
use were situated on lands held under medium-term leases in
the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain buildings with
aggregate carrying amount of zero were pledged to a bank as
collateral for banking facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group noted
that the decline in demand and selling prices of its refractory
products from refractory segment, as a result of the
continuous decline in demand of refractory products in the
PRC, as indications that non-current assets of the refractory
operations, comprising mainly property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, may be impaired. The Group assessed
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit on the
basis of value-in-use calculations with reference to the
valuations carried out by HG Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with
the Group. The calculations use cash flows projections with
pre-tax discount rates at 14.8%, which reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant segment, based on the most recent
financial budgets for the next five years approved by the
management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate at 2%. The
growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth
rate for the business in which the cash-generating unit of
refractory segment (“Refractory CGU") operates.

The impairment assessment was conducted by the directors of
the Company and provision for impairment loss on the assets
in Refractory CGU amounting to approximately
HK$21,832,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The impairment loss was
recognised for Refractory CGU for which the recoverable
amounts of the assets were less than their carrying amounts.

BHEBRENBAMNT : The breakdown of impairment loss is as follows:
—EBomE —T-=F
2024 2023
FER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000

MAIREESBMZMERIE  Provision for impairment loss in
B Refractory CGU:

M- BEKRZE Property, plant and equipment 13,880 -
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 7,952 -
21,832 =
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

18. ERAREE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HE L HEWME @5t
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total
T T T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-_ZE-_=#—HF—H At 1 January 2023 87,448 1,293 88,741
F R E FT IR (M EE3) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (3,025) (368) (3,393)
i & BT 8 A 8] 18 BUH i R Derecognition upon disposal
(Hf #£30(b)) of a subsidiary (note 30(b)) (1,600) = (1,600)
fEHER Exchange differences (1,229) - (1,229)
RZZTZ=5+ZA=+—H At31 December 2023 and
kZZE-NE—-—H—H 1 January 2024 81,594 925 82,519
FE R E TR (M &) Depreciation charge for
the year (note (i) (2,922) (376) (3,298)
BERERREERE Impairment loss recognised
(B 7% Giii)) (noteliii)) (7,952) - (7,952)
HEEET Lease modification - 45 45
EHER Exchange differences (1,629) - (1,629)
RZZTZWFE+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 69,091 594 69,685
“E-mF ZEZ=%
2024 2023
TERT F& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BNHEAE Settlement of lease liabilities 443 432
% BR 7 & AE B 2 Expenses relating to short-term leases 873 889
HEZHRSRLRE Total cash outflows for leases 1,316 1,321
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ERAEEE @

ERAREERERELEREMBFAER
FHREEHRUAREESE) AR
£ .

RS -—_mNER-—S-—=F+=-_fF=+—
Br- gLt RTENFHAERES -

(i) 474,000 7T (ZZ = =4 : 533,000/ 1)
%.2,824,000 7T (== — =4 : 2,860,000
BLT)AORNFABE-_Z_MNE+=- A
=+ HAEFEGRABRRPHERA
REBERRA -

(i) RZZE_WEF+=—A=+—B ' KEEYD
34,188,000/ T (=T = =4 : 36,444,000
BRIZETHELHWEERT —RET
ERRITBME 2R ©

iy BEZTZ-_NF+-_A=+—HBHLFE"
fFREEEREBEL7952,000%8 T (=
To=F E)RBEANER - BERE
Pz EEFBRKT 7 E -

18.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the
lease terms.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, leasehold lands were
located in the PRC with medium-term leases.

Notes:

(i) The depreciation charges of approximately HK$474,000 (2023:
HK$533,000) and HK$2,824,000 (2023: HK$2,860,000) were
included in cost of sales and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

(i) As at 31 December 2024, certain leasehold lands with
carrying amount of approximately HK$34,188,000 (2023:
HK$36,444,000) were pledged to a bank as collateral for
banking facilities.

(iii)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment loss on
right-of-use assets amounting to approximately HK$7,952,000
(2023: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss. The details of basis
of impairment assessment are disclosed in note 17(iii).
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. WBARIZRE 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
RZZE-_WF+-_A=+—8 K2 al M As at 31 December 2024, the particulars of the Company’s
BARIZFEBWMT : subsidiaries are as follows:

FERER LA
Proportion of ownership interest
FMEL/ B L ERTREHR rEE -HKE
WEARER ZHEREH EBHY BRAZFE EREE A0FKA RAKE TEEER
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issued and interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital the Group the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
MEERERRA RERIHE M () WhEREE 100 100 - REZR
“AANE+TZRA=R (EPa 313
Lee Shing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Note (d) 20 ordinary shares 100 100 - Investment holding
3 December 1998 of US$1 each
ENERES (LB BERAA hE mE BEfEA 100 100 - ESRiER
(Fit 3£ a)) ZZ2TF-ACTMA 200,000% ¢
Wellfire (Shanghai) Company The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 100 100 - Trading of rare
Limited (note (a)) 24 February 2000 US$200,000 earth products
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. EBRLHE ()] MREREE 100 - 100 BEREK
“Z3ZFRA=T-H 1ETZEBR
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. British Virgin Islands Note (d) 2 ordinary shares 100 - 100 Investment holding
31 May 2000 of US$1 each
HENAFKBLERAH e B EHEA 95 = 95 HEREERT
(B E£(b) “AN=FLATER 15,660,000% 70 Em
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth ~ The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 95 - 95  Manufacturing and
Company Limited (note (b)) 17 July 1993 US$15,660,000 sales of rare
earth products
3k i A (B 2 (a) RE-AANELA=TH HE BEHER 100 = 100 HERBEMA
17,000,000% T Em
Leeshing Refractory (note (a)) The PRC 30 July 1999 The PRC Paid up capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and
US$17,000,000 sales of refractory
products
WHERERAR B B Lkt 100 = 100 EBSHLER
-AMANETRAZT=ZH
Microtech Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Trading of rare earth
23 October 1998 HK$2 products
PERELESHERAT gE 0 LTERET 100 = 100 E&EXHK
S ey I )=
China Rare Earth Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 - 100 Inactive
24 March 2000 HK$2
mRBE (M) e HE EAER 100 = 100 HERHERR
—ET_FMA-H 30,000,000% 7T BEER
High Temperature Ceramics (note (a))  The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and
1 April 2002 HK$30,000,000 sales of high
temperature

ceramics products
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

M AR 2R E (&) 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FERER LA
Proportion of ownership interest
EMAL/ L BRTREMR rEE -HKE
WEARER ZHERAS EBuE RA&Z#1E EREE ADAEE DNARE  EEEER
Place and date of Particulars of Effective
incorporation/ Place of issued and interest of Held by Held by
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital the Group the Company  asubsidiary  Principal activities
% % %
HEFBZHLBMHERAR HE HE EHER 100 = 100 BEREEMA
(F 5 @) ZEIREAACTLR 3,000,000% T REER
Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials ~ The PRC The PRC Paid up capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 27 September 2006 U5$3,000,000 sales of refractory
related products
EEERARAA £y EE LTARIET 100 = 100 REERK
ZZ-Z£+ARA
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share 100 - 100 Investment holding
6 December 2010 HK$1
HEMAAKNRERERAR HE HE T@ER 100 = 100 HAREXH
(M @) —T-N\F-A=1+=H iE0)
Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Technology ~ The The PRC N/A (note (e)) 100 - 100 Not yet commenced
Development Co., Ltd. (note (a)) PRC 23 February 2018 business
EEFEAMHERAA HE e TER 95 - 95  HAHEEE
(M3E() ZE--%1+-AthH (Ki3E(e)
Yixing Xinwei New Materials Co., Ltd. The PRC The PRC N/A (note (e)) 95 - 95  Not yet commenced
(note (c)) 15 November 2021 business
i 5 Notes:
a) ZENTRBEREEN MK AINE a) These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
BEDE - wholly-owned foreign enterprises.
b) Z N R IR 1B B B R Gl sE AR S A AN S b) This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a
s sino-foreign equity enterprise.
) ZERRBREBERBAGFMAL BEER Q) These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
EERA ° a limited liability enterprise.
d) ZERNR AT ESTEERME 2 REE d) These companies are investment holding companies which
(NG have no specific principal place of business.
e) RZZT-_NMF+=-_A=+—H  ZE%2 e) As at 31 December 2024, the registered capital of these

AZEMEARL RMAKELE -

BEMBAAEEEMNFABRFA
EARBRFEERZEBRES

HEz_Z2-_HmWErR-_ZTZ-_=ZF+=A
=t+—ALFE AEBELENE AT

BEAFERMES -

companies has not been injected by the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or within any time during the year.

The Group had no subsidiary which has material non-
controlling interests for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

20. 8 20. INVENTORIES

a) REMBERARZEERSR: a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

—2-lmE —E-=%
2024 2023
THERT T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R+ R Raw materials 82,480 4,630
£ 2 & Work in progress 2,258 5,511
B X i Finished goods 174,719 192,927
259,457 203,068
by ®BREAIzZEESHEZIWHOT: b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense is as follows:

—E-NE —E =5

2024 2023

FER FHEIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

EEREZEREE Carrying amount of inventories sold 795,161 772,068
7 & MR Write-down of inventories 14,485 65,320
809,646 837,388
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EWEREHEMERR  BAIRE 21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

i © B 15 ¥R 2% B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

k&€ PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS
113 ZEZ=fF
2024 2023
TERT T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
JE U5 BR 5K Trade receivables 638,568 476,879
B EER SR 2 R E &R Less: Impairment loss on trade
receivables (52,896) (58,266)
JiE Wt BR FOF BB Trade receivables, net 585,672 418,613
H fth i Uk 5K Other receivables 2,219 2,544
B H A EUR 2 REE B Less: Impairment loss on other
receivables (1,371) (1,197)
H b i U 5105 58 Other receivables, net 848 1,347
586,520 419,960
H fth BT 3R B % 18 Other tax refundable 15,728 3,814
JE Ui BR SR R H At & I 3R Trade and other receivables 602,248 423,774
ENRERES Prepayments and deposits 875 5,281
st Total 611,004 429,055
Misk: P ME U BE 2 % E 4 B MR 2% - B 1+ 2B Note: All of the trade and other receivables, prepayments and

FPReEHIR -—FRAKREDRER B

¥ o

expense within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

2. BEWERARREMBERR BEARE 21
RS @)
MR IE R R A (RIRARER A HIEE)
2Rz HRER AT :

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade receivables
based on the invoice date, which is approximate to the
revenue recognition date, is as follows:

—E-NF —ZE-=%
2024 2023
TERT FH& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
~ME AR Less than 6 months 464,824 230,558
~NERE—FLA 6 months to less than 1 year 123,485 163,275
—EWMEUR 1 year to less than 2 years 30,133 18,676
M LA E Over 2 years 20,126 64,370
638,568 476,879

& E W BR R 2 R B & 18 Less: Impairment loss on trade
receivables (52,896) (58,266)
585,672 418,613

REEZT_MNFR_FT_=F+=A
=S+ HLEFEE AEE—RBETERF
FAHANTFORIS0BZEEH  MEER T
ZEBF A& %/A365H °

AEBEFEERFEEPMB BN RN
KEERBRL -AEBR/MERTFHE
FERE BEEEBEZHETHARA
BEERE EEENEECAHZE
Yo B R0 BR A UK O % 5 MR SROR
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During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group generally allows a credit period ranging from 0 to 180
days to its customers and allows up to 365 days to reputable
customers.

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of
their financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits
are set out for all customers and these can be exceeded only
with the approval from management. Management also
monitors overdue trade receivables, and follows up the
collection of these receivables.
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22.

#n 6 B 85 ¥R 2% B 5F

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BWERREMEERS BANRE 21

RR€ (&)
BEBEREZZ2HMT:

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

The movements of loss allowances for impairment are as
follows:

P& W BR R 2 R (B Hi W R 2B E
Impairment of Impairment of
trade receivables other receivables
—EoNE —To=F ZE-NE T =
2024 2023 2024 2023
THET THET TER FH& T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
n—HA—H At 1 January 58,266 54,133 1,197 1,211
(BE),/BEHER Net impairment losses
VEREN TR B (reversed)/recognised (4,168) 4,938 201 4
BN ZER Exchange differences (1,202) (805) (27) (18)
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 52,896 58,266 1,371 1,197

AEEERBEEVNBRELENEIRMA
E2RBEERERR ROEEER
B ZBETES R RE33G)

The Group applied the ECL model prescribed by HKFRS 9,
and the impairment methodology of ECL model is set out in
note 33(a).

BHERBELZEEER 22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
—E-F T =F
2024 2023
FET F#& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
RITHEHRERE Bank balances and cash 965,953 1,299,449

ReRBREEEHEREASEEAZ
RERBBRITMHEFNENTF0%ZE0.375%
(ZCE-Z=F: 0% ZE1.0% T2 2 RTH
ﬁ% o

R-ZBE-_mWE+=-A=+—8 A&EET
EHERREETHREIEET Z AR
BT E R 174 8 M 3E € 49 /964,989,000
BT (ZZ = =4 :1,297,601,000% 7T) o

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances at prevailing market interest rates ranging
from 0% to 0.375% (2023: 0% to 1.0%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances and
cash denominated in RMB that were either not freely
convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the PRC
amounting to approximately HK$964,989,000 (2023:
HK$1,297,601,000).

Annual Report 2024 44

135
/



fn © B 95 ¥R 2% Bff 51

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

23. ENBRR  EFRERHMELR 23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

PAYABLES

—E-MF —E-=%

2024 2023

TET T T

HK$°000 HK$'000

JEE -1 BR 3K Trade payables 68,147 74,792

AR E A & H fh e 5K Accrued expenses and other payables 18,696 16,131

JE 1<F B8 Bt 5 3k 3E (B RE (D)) Amounts due to related parties (note (i) 3,769 4,647

& 48 & (T aE i) Contract liabilities (note (ii)) 433 446

H Ath, & A~ 77 I8 Other tax payable 763 -

JE 5T 30 I8 K H fth FE 5% Accruals and other payables 23,661 21,224

st Total 91,808 96,016

Bt 3T - Notes:

(i) MBS ZEEEZSHE  EIKW (i) The amounts due to related parties are non-trade in nature,

RERAERBREEE -

(i) FHEBIERHNAZXNHEE
B -

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

EorE (ii) The amounts primarily represent the advance payments from
customers for sales of goods not yet delivered.

BAERFIREZAREN ZREDTAT : The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade payables

based on the invoice date is as follows:

=l 111 -5 —E =%

2024 2023

FET F& T

HK$'000 HK$'000

NEBRRA Less than 6 months 16,828 37,334
NEAE—FMNUR 6 months to less than 1 year 13,621 21,706
—EWENARA 1 year to less than 2 years 22,390 5,425
MEMR E Over 2 years 15,308 10,327
68,147 74,792
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i © B 15 ¥R 2% B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

ENRMR  EFREREMESK 23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER

(&) PAYABLES (Continued)
AEHEBEZEFNMT: The movement of contract liabilities are as follows:
“E-mEF —ZE-=
2024 2023
TET FH& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
n—A—H At 1 January 446 14,146
REFFAGHNEBEZFERA Revenue recognised during the year
BRI A that was included in contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year - (14,044)
EEWIREmEN ek Increase due to cash received, excluding
EERRBRAZEHE amounts recognised as revenue - 449
EHER Exchange differences (13) (105)
R+=—RA=+—H At 31 December 433 446
B EERE 24. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS
—E-_IMFE —T-=F
2024 2023
TET FH& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRELAE Mr. Jiang Quanlong 12,195 5,306
BT B+ Ms. Qian Yuanying - 4,791
BAmEkE Mr. Jiang Cainan 138 -
12,333 10,097

ENEERBASEER REREEX

B & -

and repayable on demand.
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The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

25. REEUMBRRERZFE 25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a) HAEMBRRFRZEN(FlkE) a) The movement of tax payable/(recoverable) in the
MBEBZESHNOT : consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:
—E_NEF —E-=F
2024 2023
TET T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
w—A—H At 1 January 1,685 1,633
N4 E BB (P 5E9(a)) Provision for the year (note 9(a))
-HBEREMER - PRC Enterprise Income Tax - =
REEENMAER Income tax paid during the year
-FE P EMER - PRC Enterprise Income Tax - (129)
o & BT B 2 5] 18 BUH 7 72 Derecognised upon disposal of a
(B 7E30(b)) subsidiary (note 30(b)) - 168
1,685 1,672
EHER Exchange differences 16 13
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 1,701 1,685

RER B B 75 R 0 2R FE 3R
A 4 35 7R

Tax recoverable recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial
position (713) (729)

138

RER B B 75 R 0 2R FE 3R

Tax payable recognised in the

F& A B 1]

N IRFE
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consolidated statement of financial
position

Net tax payable

2,414

2,414

1,701

1,685
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. REEHBRRRZHMEH @

b)

(9]

ERAZELEHERE
ERRBETCHEREZ T R MM
HREEHMT

25.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b)

Deferred tax assets recognised

The major components of deferred tax assets
recognised and movement thereon are as follows:

BRER R
Hitt BB R 2
FEE 2 BEERE: BBER RIE B8 @zt
Impairment
loss on trade
and other
Deferred tax arising from: Tax losses receivables Total
TET TERT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-_=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 = 6,813 6,813
FASGIRB)BEER Credited/(charged) to
GEEIE) profit or loss (note 9(a)) 1,598 (1,037) 561
ERER Exchange differences (1) (90) (101)
RZB-_=F+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2023 and
kZFE-ZME—H—H 1 January 2024 1,587 5,686 7,273
(MkAH)GTABRE (Charged)/credited to
(Bt 5£9(a)) profit or loss (note 9(a)) (806) 237 (569)
ELER Exchange differences (25) (125) (150)
RZZ_m$E+-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 756 5,798 6,554

MABRRZEEREEE
RZEZWME+ZA=+—H' K
RZEGREVBERREREATE
BERZANBEREZEH A
996,951,000 (= T = = F:
925,566,0007% 7r) ° M 7 £ LA 78 A
R 2R i I HOR - B &L A B AT A
MEBRZERRECHEEE - L
MEFABUAEEZAF2HE
E18 49 /573,181,000 T (—E = =
4 : 497,760,000 Jr) o £ fib &5 18 7]
MR Hi A EE o

(9]

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2024, deductible temporary
differences in respect of tax losses not recognised in
these consolidated financial statements were
approximately HK$996,951,000 (2023:
HK$925,566,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such deductible temporary
differences due to the unpredictability of future profits
streams. Included in the above are tax losses of
approximately HK$573,181,000 (2023: HK$497,760,000)
which can only be carried forward for a maximum
period of five years. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

25. REREHBRR K ZHEH @

d HMABRRZEZEHREASE
BER-_ZENF—A—HEBEN
ZHECEMRBHE  WERAPH
PR HBEEBZETEEEESIR
B P Sk sk A ¥R AR R A I
FEBRERNPREMK Y HEE XL
B AAS AT & BB B A (R
BHRE R B)EI10%H R 8478
MABHH - R_FTZENF = A
Zt+ZB UERBEERBEELS
H A B B (2008)15% Bt M= F
E+E+-_A=+—HBAANED
¥RBEAIEL 2 KB DR ER
BB ER

RZE-_@mE+=-RA=+—H " &
BARBREXIZHBARIE=ZF
NFEZRPBE BTN 2EREZERENR
325,884,000% t(=Z T = = &
386,232,000/ JT) ° B A A & H 2
EHlZEHERAR 2Kk BE - #
MmiEs R ER 2 BEER - BR
ARERIAATGEHLRTRER
BWHARZEER=ZERRETH
18 B & 4932,588,0008 T (Z T = =
4 38,623,000 7T) °
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25.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with effect
from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises
without an establishment or place of business in the
PRC or which have an establishment or place of
business but the relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of
business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding
income tax at the rate of 10% on various types of
passive income such as dividends derived from sources
in the PRC. On 22 February 2008, the Ministry of
Finance and State Administration of Tax approved
Caishui (2008) No. 1, pursuant to which dividend
distributions out of retained profits of foreign
investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will
be exempted from withholding income tax.

As at 31 December 2024, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries
established in the PRC since 2008 amounted to
approximately HK$325,884,000 (2023:
HK$386,232,000). Deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$32,588,000 (2023: HK$38,623,000)
have not been recognised in respect of these
temporary differences as the Group is able to control
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and in turn to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.



26.

i © B 15 ¥R 2% B 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

HEEE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES
—E-MEF —TZ=F
2024 2023
T F#& T
HK$'000 HK$'000
ENHEESE: Lease liabilities payables:
—FR Within 1 year 434 391
—FREMEA After 1 year but within 2 years 230 a1
MEZRBREA After 2 years but within 5 years - 218
664 1,020
B:RBBEETET Less: Amounts due for settlement
R+ AR EEE within 12 months shown under
2 k1A current liabilities (434) (391)
FERBEEETER Amounts due for settlement after
RT+—E AR BESE 12 months shown under
2 5RIE non-current liabilities 230 629
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. RARf#E 27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a) AKEBEGeEmISEIMHDRED a)  The reconciliation between the opening and closing
REREHRZEFRE NGRS balances of each component of the Group's
BRA - BEARA R 2@ consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
PRENEFERBABE 2 EHFBEH statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
IR ¢ in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set

out below:

INGE LN T

Attributable to owners of the Company

kx  ROEE BERERE ZHER aE

Share
Share Share option Accumulated
capital  premium reserve losses Total

tér  TEx  TEr  ThArT  TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

W-_Z-=%-f—-H At 1 January 2023 234,170 2,243,256 959 (511,346) 1,967,039
ZECCEEREY: Changes in equity for 2023:
rEEBR Loss for the year - - - (16,417)  (16,417)
AEEEMAEKE Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
AEERABRAE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (16,417) (16,417)
BREREENARN Recognition of equity-settled share-based

BER 2R E28) payments (note 28) = = 9,060 = 9,060
BIREXM(ME29) Lapse of share option (note 28) = = (451) 451 -

N-F-=%+-A=1+—H At31 December 2023 and
k-Z-mE—f—H 1 January 2024 234170 2,243,256 9,568  (527,312) 1,959,682

ZETHEIEREE Changes in equity for 2024:

rEERE Loss for the year - - - (64,376)  (64,376)
AEEAMEEKE Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - -
AEEXHBRER Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (64,376)  (64,376)
B IR HE X A (M £E28) Lapse of share option (note 28) - - (9,568) 9,568 -
RIBZMETZA=T—H At31 December 2024 234,170 2,243,256 - (582,120) 1,895,306
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. BRAR & ()

b)

(9]

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

EEREBITRA b)  Authorised and issued share capital
B & E k|
Number
of shares Amount
T B F& T
‘000 HK$'000
&R E(H0.10/8 T 2 EE K Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EE Authorised
RZTE-_=F—HA—H8 " At 1 January 2023,
—T-=%+=-A=+—HK 31 December 2023, and
—E-_WMFE+=-A=+—H 31 December 2024 4,000,000 400,000
ERTRHER Issued and fully paid
R—ZFT_=F—H—Q8 " At 1 January 2023,
—E-_=F+=-A=+—HK 31 December 2023, and
—E-_WE+-_A=+—H 31 December 2024 2,341,700 234,170

EBRFAEANBREGTIHERZ
BREERREARBEELZRER—
RZREE -AEAREART
ZRBEENZERERE -

BEZHEREN
) RGEE

REFASESARE KD
HERAEDIKTARBBER -
EREBREAIDRREZA
& ARREEEAREE
EGeRETEEAIREY -

)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves
i) Share premium

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend i s proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

A K A 4 (80
0 REIMERBEHE
i) RO EEE)

if)

jif)

KRR ZBM s EBEEH
B # #9149,950,0007% 7T » I
RNRAFRBF =R ER R
A2 EBITRAMETR
2z ®ME #BAXAQE R
—AANAFALB-THhAKE
F Rk 12 A% B BR R 8 BT £ A KT
BRARAIERKRSZHBFEE
BEZEZSE-

EX G
BARBREASERESRE
EHEMBEBEA Lz BEER
EREBEE -

5 TE
BEREBEMNBELERB
REEBEZTERI KRG
AR DB R B KL Z K
BRARZABERMESL - XL
RuEacESTEHE-

EERETAREHERTF
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(9)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

i)

ii)

fii)

Share premium (Continued)

The share premium of the Company included the
contribution surplus of approximately
HK$149,950,000 which represented the
difference between the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued in exchange for
the entire issued share capital of Lee Shing
Holdings Limited and the value of the underlying
net assets of the subsidiaries held by Lee Shing
Holdings Limited at the date they were acquired
by the Company on 29 September 1999.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory
reserves made by the Group as a result of group
reorganisation.

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained profits to statutory
reserves were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the Company's
subsidiaries established in the PRC and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserves can be used to offset previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into
paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserves after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to transfer a minimum of 10% of
their net profits, as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting rules and regulations to
the statutory reserves until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The
transfer must be made before distribution of
dividends to owners.
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(9)

d)

e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
iv)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

V) Share option reserve

The share option reserve arose upon the grant of
share options of the Company and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2(n)(iii).

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the
Company'’s reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$1,661,136,000
(2023: HK$1,715,944,000) which included the
Company's share premium of approximately
HK$2,243,256,000 (2023: HK$2,243,256,000), and
offsetting with accumulated losses of approximately
HK$582,120,000 (2023: HK$527,312,000). These
reserves are available for distribution provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed, the Company will be able to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders or sell assets
to reduce debt.
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BE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
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27.

28.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
e) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as the Group’s borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents over its total equity
attributable to owners of the Company. There were no
net debt for the Group as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group's strategy was unchanged from year 2023.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
June 2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”), which will be valid for 10 years from the date of
its adoption.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may grant share options to eligible persons,
including the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries,
any of its shareholders, suppliers, customers, consultants,
advisers and joint venture partners or business alliance who
have contributed or will contribute to the development and
growth of the Group, to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by
eligible participants for each lot of share options granted. An
option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and identified by the directors of the Company
to each grantee at the time of making the offer, but in any
event, shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the date
of grant of the particular option, subject to the early
termination of the Share Option Scheme.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the number of options available for
grant under the scheme mandate limit of the Share Option
Scheme was 67,264,305 (2024: Nil) shares of the Company.

On 30 November 2022, the Company granted 100,000,000
share options to five existing members of staff and five
proposed members of staff within the Group, in which,
12,500,000 share options were granted to key management
personnel, to subscribe for ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.51 per share. The vesting period of the share options
granted is one year from the date of grant.

The grantees may exercise the share options to subscribe for
the Company’s shares from 30 November 2023 to 5 June
2024 (both days inclusive). However, certain conditions must
be met before the grantees can exercise the share options,
including one existing staff member achieving certain
performance targets evaluated by the Company’s
remuneration committee, and the five proposed staff
members being accepted as staff of the Group. Otherwise,
the share options will lapse.

The closing price of the Company’s shares on 30 November
2022, being the date of grant, was HK$0.51 per share.

The aggregate fair value of the share options determined at
the date of grant based on the Hull-White model, was
approximately HK$10,935,000.
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28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair
values of share options granted on 30 November 2022:

Grant date share price (per share) HK$0.51
Exercise price (per share) HK$0.51
Contractual life 1.52 years
Expected volatility (%) 28.00%

Dividend yield (%) 0%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.68%

The Hull-White model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the share options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are
based on the best estimate of the directors of the Company.
Changes in variables and assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the share options.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised share-based payments of approximately
HK$9,060,000 (2024: Nil), which has been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, 87,500,000 (2023: 12,500,000)
share options were lapsed and there were no share options
granted and exercised during the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the number of
outstanding share options was 87,500,000 (2024: Nil),
representing 3.74% (2024: Nil) of the weighted average
number of share in issue for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company consider that the
followings are the material related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023:

HEALER HAKEZEBE XHMHE =B-@mE —T-o=F
2024 2023
Name of Relationship THER THET
related party with the Group Nature of transaction HK$000 HK$'000
BEis ARAIHMTERZ AEEENRBEEEVBREE]
TRKEKE FloRAERAERARX 786 800
Mr. Jiang Lei Close family member of Expenses relating to short-term

executive director of
the Company

ARBEERR LARSTIN—
BREBERTREREZEIRFZ

1 IR AR ET AL

leases under HKFRS 16 paid by
the Group 786 800

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the above transactions were entered into under the
normal course of business and in accordance with the
terms of the agreements governing such transactions.
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

29. EXBEAIRG (H) 29. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
b) HIEEBAEZXRS b)  Transactions with key management personnel
TEEBASZNESEBEINT Emoluments for key management personnel, including
B sE10FT I E Y A AT EE KK = amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
MR BE EeTMALTRERE in note 10, and the highest paid employees and senior
BABZSZE)WMT: management as disclosed in note 11 are as follows:
—E-@OF —EZ=F
2024 2023
FTHERT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
RHEERA Short-term employee benefits 824 4,352
RIK 1218 T Post-employment benefits 10 135
1 0 5 B AR 9 B E 7 2 4 50 Equity-settled share-based payment - 1,193
834 5,680
30, HEKELQT 30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
N-—E-—=#+-A+HHF KAAFHESE On 15 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement
ST = 75 TS 15 DA H RS I T A with an independent third party to dispose of its 100%
EEBAER AR (EHEER] 2100% K equity interest in Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore Co.,
#.H4eKREAARK295000007 (48 Ltd. (“Suhai Magnesium”) at a cash consideration of
P4 32,785,000 T)([H ESF\E]) o RMB29,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HEEBIEN S ERNEEESD - HK$32,785,000) (the “Disposal”). Suhai Magnesium was
HeEEEER-—"E-—=#+-A=-++A8 principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of magnesium
=K o products. The Disposal was completed on 27 December
2023.
a) 2R E a) Consideration received
FET
HK$'000
BEWRekFLZEBEBERE Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 32,785
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30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

REBRGHE2HSEREERER b)  Analysis of assets and liabilities of Suhai
Z D Magnesium over which control was lost
FHIT
HK$'000
Mz BERR Property, plant and equipment 54
150 FA 7 & 2 (i 5£18) Right-of-use assets (note 18) 1,600
& Inventories 3,036
JEE 5 BR 0 R E b 8 W 5K Trade and other receivables 47,878
A] 4z 2 £ 18 (Bt 5% 25(a)) Tax recoverable (note 25(a)) 168
ReRkBReFEIER Cash and cash equivalents 24
JE 1+ BR 3K Trade payables (19,785)
JE 5t 5118 K H Al FE 5 5% Accruals and other payables (4,125)
HEZEEFE Net assets disposed of 28,850
HEMB AT > ¢)  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
FHIT
HK$'000
B E Consideration received 32,785
HEZEEFE Net assets disposed of (28,850)
RAREZHEZEIBERRZ Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the net
MEBAREEFEZRFTIERL assets of the subsidiary reclassified from equity
U = to profit or loss on loss 1,784
PRiEZEPRERALEHE AT 2 E Gain on disposal of a subsidiary recognised in
profit or loss 5,719

HEWBARZHEERAFHE d)

Net cash inflows on disposal of a subsidiary

FHIT

HK$'000

BERekAEEEBEERE Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 32,785
BHEZHERREEFEEA Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (24)
EEZRERAFE Net cash inflows on disposal 32,761
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
any capital commitment in respect of the acquisition and
construction of property, plant and equipment contracted

31. &IE 31.
R-E-_NWNFER-_E-_=F+-A=1+—
B ASETEBBRDE BERKEZ
WEREEZEBHEREENE AR X

£ o but not provided for.

32. REMESZEMIA 32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES
REREHER SERNESBRIAZER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
BEMT: instruments at the end of each reporting period are as

follows:
11 -3 —EZ=F
2024 2023
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
SRMEE Financial assets
JE U BR X Trade receivables 585,672 418,613
H b fE U 3R Other receivables 848 1,347
BeERREEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 965,953 1,299,449
REHEKAGTECEREE Financial assets measured at
amortised cost 1,552,473 1,719,409
=l 11! -5 — =%
2024 2023
FExT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ctRER Financial liabilities
JEE 11 BR 3K Trade payables 68,147 74,792
TBIRE F & H fth FE 1 5K Accrued expenses and other payables 18,696 16,131
& 11 B Bk 75 TR IA Amounts due to related parties 3,769 4,647
B EERIEA Amounts due to directors 12,333 10,097
HEGE Lease liabilities 664 1,020
REBERAGTEZEREE Financial liabilities measured
at amortised 103,609 106,687
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33.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The risks associated with the financial instruments include
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk
arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group’'s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the
financial guarantee contracts.
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HE_Z_MF+-A=+—HIEF For the year ended 31 December 2024

33. WHXEREEREMIAEZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(&) VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) fFERRE) a) Credit risk (Continued)
RA B R FREER () Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
—E-ME
2024
+=A
ZRH
FERBR
12-month EEGEN RAGERR
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-RBB E-BR EZER  ftai &zt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total

THT ThEx ThT THT TR
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000

R Trade receivables - - - 638568 638,568
H U Other receivables 1,302 - 917 - 2,219
RITH% Bank balances 965,953 - - - 965,953
967,255 - 917 638,568 1,606,740
ZEZ=f
2023
+-@A
LEH
EFEE#
12-month BAFES RAGEER
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-RE FZBE F=ZBE @trk o
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total

tEr  TEx  TERT  TART  TER
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

& W B 3% Trade receivables - - - 476,879 476,879
L)€ Other receivables 1,347 - 1197 - 2,544
RIS Bank balances 1,299,410 - - - 1,299,410

1,300,757 = 1,197 476,879 1,778,833
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33. MXEAREEREMIAZATE
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

a)

(i)

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, in order to
minimise credit risk, the management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations of its customers’ financial
position and conditions are performed on each
major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate.
The Group does not require collateral in respect
of its financial assets.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
the country in which customers operate also has
an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent.
At the end of the reporting period, 18.5% (2023:
40.6%) and 82.7% (2023: 70.3%) of the total
trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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33. IXEAREEREMIAZATE
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

a)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position after deducting any impairment
loss. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group did not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group assesses lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables under HKFRS 9 to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring. The ECLs on trade receivables
are assessed for debtors individually or
collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings. As part of the Group's
credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess with the impairment loss
because these customers consist of a large
number of customers which share common risk
characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The
estimated loss rates are estimated on historical
observed default rates over the expected lives of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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33. HXEREEREMIAEZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(&) VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
a) fEFERK(E) a) Credit risk (Continued)

()  EWEZ(E) (i) Trade receivables (Continued)
TRIEHREEARNEE R E W The following table provides information about
EXFAEEERRE RTEH the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for
EEEBZER: trade receivables:

“E-ME
2024
B Z
HAHBRE EEAHE BRER
Loss
Expected Gross carrying allowances
loss rate amount for impairment
TERT TER
HK$'000 HK$'000
B8R (K 8 57) Current (not yet past due) 5.53% 490,827 27,149
BELRAEAR Less than 6 months past due 8.59% 110,443 9,483
BB ANEARDLR—F More than 6 months but less than
1 year past due 9.07% 17172 1,558
AHEA-—FEIRME More than 1 year but less than
2 years past due 17.25% 6,550 1,130
jaleiheag ol ka3 Over 2 years past due 100% 13,576 13,576
638,568 52,896
—T-=F
2023
BB 2
HBHEBRX REHAR BEEE
Loss
Expected  Gross carrying allowances
loss rate amount  for impairment
TAT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
B E (K@ ) Current (not yet past due) 4.90% 114,982 5,632
BHORSER Less than 6 months past due 10.82% 296,880 32,131
wABANEABDLR—F  More than 6 months but less than
1 year past due 12.98% 51,125 6,637
AHBEA—FHEIRNME More than 1 year but less than
2 years past due 56.67% 60 34
jalih g3 Over 2 years past due 100% 13,832 13,832
476,879 58,266
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33. WHXEREEREMIAEZATE
()
a) fFEERKE)

() MR 2 (&)
EHEREXNREBEAME
MEREBREREE 2%
hEeEHABURRE S
& [F S8 iR 0 HD RS A0 48 OB R
S BRI R A B Y
Uy 2% TE A HRAE IR M A B R
OB ER o

EASEEREERERZ
FEERBZE-—FSELESRE
B R EE21 o

(i)  RITHE
AEBEBRERGETREE
MERBEBETRRERSER
% o ARNRITEEFTRRLT -
EEEBBAAEMYFIAT
STrBITHEME -

b) RBEZEAR
ARBEETZBUZEERARER
ExazBieER BEASEHK
ZHAREREEERARRES
ReFf HARE=SHER
HAEE AEBEZBRRBEHE
REMRBAFZRBESFR AU
REFERRHE  BRAEELH
RAMMNREREEIZSHBBER
BrRAMAGFEERE UmEH
RRRBEARHESTE -
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in note 21.

(i) Bank balances

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk by
placing deposits with financial institutions with
established credit rating. Given the high credit
ratings of the banks, the management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to the approval from board of directors. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.
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33. HXEREEREMIAEZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
() VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b) RBELERE b)
TERBEJNAKEZEBRABER RS
MR ERENABRARSRE(R
EERAHMNERFF/IHEMARK
miER - RlRmERR M EE)
EAGEAREREEZRERH

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based

ez Ta4H : on rates at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:
“ECME
2024
ANRBRRERE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—-Epg  -FRE WEEE
REREE MER LER @t RmfE
More than  More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
lyearor lessthan  less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
TERL TR TERL TERL TR
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
FTESRHER Non-derivative financial liabilities
JEfTER 3 Trade payables 68,147 - - 68,147 68,147
BREBMREMER Accrued expenses and other payables 18,696 - - 18,696 18,696
e AL B Amounts due to related parties 3,769 - - 3,769 3,769
ENEFHE Amounts due to directors 12,333 - - 12,333 12,333
HEER Lease liabilities 456 233 - 689 664
103,401 233 - 103,634 103,609
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33. WHXEREEREMIAEZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(£8) VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b) FREBELEAERKE) b)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
a3
2023
AHABRAS R

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

—ERg —F#HE BEREAE
REXER mER AER @t RHE

More than ~ More than

Within 1 yearbut 2 years but
Tyearor  lessthan  less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
FHL THL THL THL THAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEemaE Non-derivative financial liabilities
JE 7 BR 30 Trade payables 74,79 - - 74792 74792
BERBAREMERT Accrued expenses and other payables 16,131 - - 16,131 16,131
JEfT B 5 B Amounts due to related parties 4,647 - - 4,647 4,647
ENESFHE Amounts due to directors 10,097 = = 10,097 10,097
HERE Lease liabilities 432 432 21 1,085 1,020
106,099 432 221 106,752 106,687
o FEER c) Interest rate risk
AEBZHNEZRBEEIEXREESE The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
HeZEHEE RESERESE and cash equivalents. The Group does not anticipate
BEERAZHARBEHILSEAEE - significant interest rate risk to cash and cash
HWAEBESHETIT@FESE AR equivalents because the interest rates of these balances
K& [ o are not expected to change significantly.
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33. HXEREEREMIAEZATE

33.

HEZ

T-MFE+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(&) VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
o RNEERKGE) c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
) FEAE i) Interest rate profile
TRFMAEFINAEERNE © The following table details the interest rate
FPREEBEEIRREHRR profile of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
B FZEAS at the end of the reporting period:
g e 11 —T-=F
2024 2023
BERA= TERT ERFIE FTET
Effective Effective
interest rate HK$'000 interest rate HK$'000
BeRkBeEBEEE Cash and cash equivalents ~ 0%-0.375% 965,953 0%-1% 1,299,449
M) BUEEDH i) Sensitivity analysis
E’\\_g_llliJr A= Jr EI As at 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a

ERT - mﬁﬂfmgtﬂ/
T%BMH%%H%WQ»@%M
FEBAEERFABAR
WL/ EMAEERHERD
3,619,000/ & (Z B = =4 :
4,874,00038 T) ° 7l &k % 58

AR THRYGARENE
BHRLEPE -

B RS AT T AR B R R
SHRIMAEZFERERM
EBEE- @I REERK
EHRZABESHIAR
BEAFEHABEMmMRR -

501 & 25k F =k T B& & R 26
WI%%EAEEﬁﬂﬁﬂ
BAEAZES T AERE
BYFEMEEAEEHH
Ty —E-_=FEUHERE
EEH DT ©

general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
loss after taxation for the year and decrease/
increase the Group’s accumulated losses by
approximately HK$3,619,000 (2023:
HK$4,874,000). Other components of
consolidated equity would not be changed in
response to the general increase or decrease in
interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. The 50 basis points increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’ s assessment of the reasonably
possible changes in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for year 2023.
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33. WHXEREEREMIAEZATE 33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

€ ) VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d EH¥ERR d)  Currency risk
AEBTERANEEBREEETEN The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
NEEBUINEBETESEME sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
SRERG ENZERESRESS payables, and cash and cash equivalents that are
BEEMOBHERKRR ZHER denominated in a currency other than the functional
BEzE®FEAEZ([=T])-° currency of the group entities to which they relate. The

currency giving rise to currency risk is primarily United
States dollars (“US$").

) RTREZ BERRE i) Exposure to currency risk
TRFNAREBEF K G LR The following table details the Group’s exposure
SEEREBE 2 EEN to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
IEEFEZEERBEEX liabilities denominated in a currency other than
BEMAEESAR - the functional currency of the group entities to

which they relate.

FrEYE 2 &% E & EP ETT

Exposure to currency risk us$ us$

—E-omE —E =4

2024 2023

THERT FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

JFE AT B R B L Ath 7 LR Trade and other receivables 2,694 6,304

ReEkReEEER Cash and cash equivalents 790 1,409
JE 15t BR 3% B E Ath JE 15 5Kk Trade and other payables (7,706) (6,886)

AR s BREEEER Overall exposure to currency risk (4,222) 827
N &£ B IR B T & g O E U The Group currently does not have a foreign
2 R (& TS ELER O BE S B K o currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign
N5 E 1 2 1) B BRSNS R R currency receivables and debts. The Group will
VTHEEEERERHPE monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
K 5@ o will consider hedging significant currency

exposure should the need arises.
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33. HEREEREMIAZATE
(&)
d E&¥EkRE

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d)

Currency risk (Continued)

M) EED i) Sensitivity analysis
TRIWRAEEB KB E The following table indicates the instantaneous
BREdAEEREAEEFER change in the Group's loss after taxation and
wEBREH &E AR Z I accumulated losses that would arise if foreign
MERNZAMREEZAE exchange rates to which the Group has
BEmMBEEELE &S W significant exposure at the end of the reporting
BEEMEESEEEFLE - period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant.

RERER BB B E

Ho/ (Em) W/ ()

NBER RAEFER NEEX RIAFESR

®i/ (8P mP /() B/ Chd) md/ )

Decrease/ Decrease/

(increase) in (increase) in

loss after loss after

Increase/ taxation and Increase/  taxation and

(decrease) decrease/ (decrease) decrease/

in foreign (increase) in in foreign  (increase) in

exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated

rates losses rates losses

—E-_QNE —E-=F

2024 2023

TER TET

HK$'000 HK$'000

e Us$ 5% (187) 5% 11

(5%) 187 (5%) (11)
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33. WHXEREEREMIAEZATE
()
d E%EKRGE)

i) BRES(E)
FRFATZAONERRRY
ARARARE L 2 EHBA
ARSAZEEEHEY
REREMACIEXRRE A
I LA 25~ BRRB% (8
B) /SR RS NS
A o

it B R B 3 AT T R R SN B
EXzEHEARENGTE
AEBRBERNRATARZ
TRITEMBEE - LB DN
KT -_=FZHREEE
T °

o) ATHEIE
BRATFEUIEEFEZEBEE
KEREZAFE
RZBE-_WER=—FE-_=F+=A
=+—8 - A&EB R KA ok # K
AAEZSBMIAEEERERKS
ZAFELTEEREER o
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33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d)

e)

Currency risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregate of the
instantaneous effects on (loss)/profit after
taxation and equity for each of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC measured in
their respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of each reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for year 2023.

Fair value measurement

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

METDFELAGEZYHR 34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
D RANAEERETHMELEER 2 The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
28 AERCRIRCED BEF arising from financing activities, including both cash and
PRELABENRSREC NI RER non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
PRESRGARERNERIBARME are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
BEEEZHERE ° be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.
HEEE BRER @it
Lease Discounted
liabilities bills Total
FHT TAT THAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-_E-_=%—H—H At 1 January 2023 1,391 - 1,391
MEREREZRE: Changes from financing cash flows:
ENAERE 2EADBH Capital element of lease rentals paid 371) - (371)
ENHEERE 2H 8317 Interest element of lease rentals paid (61) - (61)
BERFIE Interest paid = (248) (248)
Hig#5: Other changes:
1 8 B X ( 3E8(a) Interest expenses (note 8(a)) 61 248 309
R=ZE=-=%#+=-A=+—-H At 31 December 2023 and
kZZ-WE-F—H 1 January 2024 1,020 - 1,020
MERSREZED: Changes from financing cash flows:
ERBEERE 2 EAHH Capital element of lease rentals paid (401) - (401)
ENHERSZHEHH Interest element of lease rentals paid (42) - (42)
Hie2s: Other changes:
HEET Lease modification 45 - 45
85 32 (P 5%8(a)) Interest expenses (note 8(a)) 42 - 42
R-Z-_mE+-A=t—H At 31 December 2024 664 - 664
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35.

ATIBEZB AR R R 35. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
—E-mEF —TZ=F
2024 2023
Bt & FTExT F& T
Note HK$000 HK$'000
EREBEE Non-current assets
B Equipment 13 62
EREEE Right-of-use assets 594 925
MEBARZKE Investments in subsidiaries 19 151,707 151,707
152,314 152,694
REBEE Current assets
BNHREBEREZES Prepayments and deposits 76 208
JiE W Y /2B A /) 58 Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,768,451 1,827,226
ReRkBeFEEAR Cash and cash equivalents - 598
1,768,527 1,828,032
REEE Current liabilities
JRE 5T FR IR Ko B fh JRE 5 3R Accruals and other payables 10,919 8,343
BN EERE Amounts due to directors 11,748 9,460
JE 11 B /B8 A B 5K I8 Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,204 2,221
HEEE Lease liabilities 434 391
25,305 20,415
REBEEFE Net current assets 1,743,222 1,807,617
EEHAERARBER Total assets less current
liabilities 1,895,536 1,960,311
*kRBEE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 230 629
EERE NET ASSETS 1,895,306 1,959,682
BRAEREGFE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27
[ Share capital 234,170 234,170
& Reserves 1,661,136 1,725,512
EZEE TOTAL EQUITY 1,895,306 1,959,682
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36.

HE-ZT-NFE+ = A=+ —HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and new standard which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted
in these consolidated financial statements. These include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on
or after
Amendment to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
and HKFRS 1 (amendments)
Amendments to HKFRS  Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2026
9 and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments
(amendments)
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, Annual Improvements to HKFRS 1 January 2026
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 Accounting Standards —
and HKAS 7 Volume 11
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 1 January 2027
Financial Statements
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027
Accountability: Disclosure
Hong Kong Hong Kong Interpretation 5 1 January 2027

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

Interpretation 5

To be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments are expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far the Group has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE+t-A=t-HALEE
For the year ended 31 December
—EB-ME —_T_=F _—_T-__F —_T-_—F —_T-_TE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TERT TET FTET TET TET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

KA Revenue 756,657 686,073 810,413 1,212,471 1,112,317

Ei=RA DN Cost of sales (809,646)  (837,388)  (809,297) (1,126,488) (1,036,492)

(£8)/EF Gross (loss)/profit (52,989) (151,315) 1,116 85,983 75,825

BB AT (EE), %A (Loss)/profit before taxation (106,577) (210,165) (391,946) 28,083 26,495

B8R (), 4%  Income tax (charge)/credit (569) 561 (1,731) (2,647) (5,887)

REF(EBR)/EF  (Loss)/profit for the year (107,146)  (209,604)  (393,677) 25,436 20,608
1 Attributable to:

KRBIHEARA Owners of the Company (104,924)  (200,545)  (373,296) 24,274 19,710

FEPE R AE Non-controlling interests (2,222) (9,059) (20,381) 1,162 898

(107,146)  (209,604)  (393,677) 25,436 20,608

R+t=-A=+-H
As at 31 December
ZECONE —To=fF —FT-—F —F-—F —T-FE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

TER TAET TAT TERT TAT
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

RBEE Current assets 1,837,127 1,932,301 2,149,803 2,730,581 2,679,928
IEREEE Non-current assets 165,469 221,402 259,827 316,424 252,585
EERE Total assets 2,002,596 2,153,703 2,409,630 3,047,005 2,932,513
mEEE Current liabilities 106,989 108,918 132,174 155,366 145,842
B IN=R Non-current liabilities 230 629 1,020 1,391 2,102
BEEE Total liabilities 107,219 109,547 133,194 156,757 147,944
BEEFE Net assets 1,895,377 2,044,156 2,276,436 2,890,248 2,784,569
f& 2 Share capital 234,170 234,170 234,170 234,170 234,170
e Reserves 1,683,191 1,830,204 2,053,651 2,647,191 2,542,911
ViN/NEIEZFEDN Equity attributable to 1,917,361 2,064,374 2,287,821 2,881,361 2,777,081
JE 15 ¥ = owners of the Company
e MR A = Non-controlling interests (21,984) (20,218) (11,385) 8,887 7,488
B E Total equity 1,895,377 2,044,156 2,276,436 2,890,248 2,784,569
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